

NO. 62

JOURNAL
OF THE
SENATE
OF THE
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA



REGULAR SESSION BEGINNING TUESDAY, JANUARY 12, 2021

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Tuesday, April 27, 2021
(Statewide Session)

~~Indicates Matter Stricken~~

Indicates New Matter

The Senate assembled at 12:00 Noon, the hour to which it stood adjourned, and was called to order by the PRESIDENT.

A quorum being present, the proceedings were opened with a devotion by the Chaplain as follows:

Exodus 18:20

We read in Exodus how Jethro, the father-in-law of Moses, said to him: “. . .teach them the statutes and instructions and make known to them the way they are to go and the things they are to do.”

Bow in prayer with me, if you will: This week, O God, the proposed budget arrives on the Senate floor -- and thus will begin the annual wrestling match as Senators and their aides strive to determine the best outcomes for the State of South Carolina. So we pray this morning, Lord, that You will guide these leaders and make known to them the best ways to tackle this important and necessary work. Surround them with Your grace as they seriously try to provide not only for the needs of our State but also, truly, as they work in ways that will ultimately benefit all of our citizens. And may their decisions, O God, clearly show them to be the serious, responsible, and caring leaders that we always expect them to be. In Your loving name we humbly pray, dear Lord. Amen.

The PRESIDENT called for Petitions, Memorials, Presentments of Grand Juries and such like papers.

Point of Quorum

At 12:03 P.M., Senator ALEXANDER made the point that a quorum was not present. It was ascertained that a quorum was not present.

Call of the Senate

Senator ALEXANDER moved that a Call of the Senate be made. The following Senators answered the Call:

Adams	Alexander	Allen
Bennett	Climer	Cromer
Davis	Fanning	Grooms
Gustafson	Harpoottlian	Hembree
Hutto	Jackson	<i>Johnson, Kevin</i>

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

<i>Johnson, Michael</i>	Kimbrell	Kimpson
Loftis	Malloy	Martin
Massey	Peeler	Rice
Sabb	Scott	Senn
Setzler	Shealy	Stephens
Talley	Turner	Williams
Young		

A quorum being present, the Senate resumed.

Leave of Absence

At 12:06 P.M., Senator GROOMS requested a leave of absence for Senator VERDIN until 1:00 P.M.

Leave of Absence

At 12:06 P.M., Senator CLIMER requested a leave of absence for Senator GOLDFINCH until 1:30 P.M.

Leave of Absence

At 5:20 P.M., Senator McELVEEN requested a leave of absence for Senator SCOTT until 5:45 P.M.

INTRODUCTION OF BILLS AND RESOLUTIONS

The following were introduced:

S. 767 -- Senator Shealy: A SENATE RESOLUTION TO CONGRATULATE THE GILBERT HIGH SCHOOL GIRLS GOLF TEAM, COACHES, AND SCHOOL OFFICIALS ON AN OUTSTANDING SEASON AND TO HONOR THEM FOR WINNING THE SOUTH CAROLINA HIGH SCHOOL LEAGUE CLASS AAA GIRLS GOLF STATE CHAMPIONSHIP.

l:\s-res\ks\036gilb.kmm.ks.docx

The Senate Resolution was adopted.

S. 768 -- Senators Young, Massey, Setzler and Hutto: A CONCURRENT RESOLUTION TO NOMINATE MR. WILLIAM INMAN TO SERVE ON THE SAVANNAH RIVER SITE RESEARCH AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

l:\s-res\try\021.kmm.try.docx

The Concurrent Resolution was introduced and ordered placed on the Calendar without reference.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

S. 769 -- Senator Cromer: A SENATE RESOLUTION TO CONGRATULATE KATHRYN ROGERS "KATHY" PADGETT UPON THE OCCASION OF HER RETIREMENT AS MANAGER OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA STATE HOUSE TOUR OFFICE, TO COMMEND HER FOR HER MORE THAN SIX YEARS OF DEDICATED SERVICE, AND TO WISH HER CONTINUED SUCCESS AND HAPPINESS IN ALL HER FUTURE ENDEAVORS.

l:\s-res\rwc\013kath.kmm.rwc.docx

The Senate Resolution was adopted.

S. 770 -- Senator Grooms: A SENATE RESOLUTION TO CONGRATULATE JAMESON C. BROGGI FOR HIS MANY OUTSTANDING ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND TO WISH HIM MUCH HAPPINESS AND FULFILLMENT IN ALL HIS FUTURE ENDEAVORS.

l:\s-res\lkg\024jame.kmm.lkg.docx

The Senate Resolution was adopted.

S. 771 -- Senator Hutto: A BILL TO CONSOLIDATE BAMBERG-EHRHARDT SCHOOL DISTRICT ONE (ALSO KNOWN AS BAMBERG SCHOOL DISTRICT ONE) AND DENMARK-OLAR SCHOOL DISTRICT TWO (ALSO KNOWN AS BAMBERG SCHOOL DISTRICT TWO) INTO ONE SCHOOL DISTRICT TO BE KNOWN AS THE BAMBERG COUNTY CONSOLIDATED SCHOOL DISTRICT; TO ABOLISH BAMBERG-EHRHARDT SCHOOL DISTRICT ONE AND DENMARK-OLAR SCHOOL DISTRICT TWO ON JULY 1, 2022; TO PROVIDE THAT THE BAMBERG COUNTY CONSOLIDATED SCHOOL DISTRICT MUST BE GOVERNED BY A BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONSISTING OF SEVEN MEMBERS, WHICH INITIALLY MUST BE APPOINTED BY THE BAMBERG COUNTY LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION, AND BEGINNING WITH THE 2022 GENERAL ELECTION, SEVEN MEMBERS MUST BE ELECTED FROM DEFINED SINGLE-MEMBER ELECTION DISTRICTS DRAWN FROM THE COMBINED GEOGRAPHIC AREA OF THE FORMER BAMBERG-EHRHARDT SCHOOL DISTRICT ONE AND THE FORMER DENMARK-OLAR SCHOOL DISTRICT TWO; TO PROVIDE THAT THE MEMBERS OF THE BAMBERG COUNTY CONSOLIDATED SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES MUST BE ELECTED IN NONPARTISAN ELECTIONS CONDUCTED AT THE SAME TIME AS THE 2022 GENERAL

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

ELECTION AND EVERY FOUR YEARS THEREAFTER, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN THIS ACT TO STAGGER THE MEMBERS' TERMS; TO ESTABLISH THE BOARD'S POWERS, DUTIES, AND RESPONSIBILITIES; TO PROVIDE THAT THE DISTRICT SUPERINTENDENT IS THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER OF THE DISTRICT AND IS RESPONSIBLE TO THE BOARD FOR THE PROPER ADMINISTRATION OF ALL AFFAIRS OF THE DISTRICT AND SUBJECT TO ALL OTHER PROVISIONS OF LAW RELATING TO HIS DUTIES; TO INCLUDE INTERIM MILLAGE PROVISIONS FOR YEARS 2022 AND 2023, AND TO PROVIDE THAT BEGINNING IN 2024, THE BAMBERG COUNTY CONSOLIDATED SCHOOL DISTRICT SHALL HAVE TOTAL FISCAL AUTONOMY.

l:\council\bill\cc\16032zw21.docx

Read the first time and ordered placed on the Local and Uncontested Calendar.

H. 3124 -- Reps. J. E. Johnson and W. Newton: A BILL TO AMEND THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, BY REPEALING SECTION 1-7-730 RELATING TO THE EXAMINATION OF THE OFFICES OF COUNTY OFFICERS.

Read the first time and referred to the Committee on Judiciary.

H. 3369 -- Reps. Weeks, Fry, Huggins, Dillard, Hewitt, Pendarvis, Trantham, Alexander, Pope, Hosey, Murray and Gilliard: A BILL TO AMEND THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, BY ADDING SECTIONS 17-5-135 AND 17-5-250 SO AS TO REQUIRE, AMONG OTHERS, CORONERS AND MEDICAL EXAMINERS TO COMPLETE CONTINUING EDUCATION ON THE IDENTIFICATION OF DEATHS CAUSED BY OPIATES.

Read the first time and referred to the Committee on Judiciary.

H. 3956 -- Rep. Howard: A BILL TO AMEND THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, BY ADDING SECTION 44-1-320 SO AS TO ESTABLISH THE "SOUTH CAROLINA RARE DISEASE ADVISORY COUNCIL" WITHIN THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL, TO PROVIDE FOR THE PURPOSE, DUTIES, MEMBERSHIP, AND FUNDING OF THE COUNCIL, TO ESTABLISH CERTAIN REPORTING AND MEETING REQUIREMENTS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

Read the first time and referred to the Committee on Medical Affairs.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

H. 3998 -- Reps. Fry, Dillard, Erickson, Davis, Wooten, Trantham and Hewitt: A BILL TO AMEND SECTIONS 44-53-1630 AND 44-53-1640, AS AMENDED, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, BOTH RELATING TO THE PRESCRIPTION MONITORING PROGRAM, SO AS TO ADD SCHEDULE V CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES TO THE PRESCRIBED AND DISPENSED CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES MONITORED UNDER THE PROGRAM.

Read the first time and referred to the Committee on Medical Affairs.

H. 4019 -- Reps. Crawford, Erickson, Bernstein, Fry, Burns, Haddon, Oremus, Long, Chumley, Magnuson, Jones, Bennett, Huggins, G. R. Smith, McCravy, V. S. Moss, Bannister, Collins, Trantham and Matthews: A BILL TO AMEND SECTION 63-7-40, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, RELATING TO THE PLACEMENT OF INFANTS AT DESIGNATED LOCATIONS WITHOUT CRIMINAL LIABILITY, SO AS TO ALLOW THE PLACEMENT OF AN INFANT NOT MORE THAN ONE YEAR OLD AT A SAFE HAVEN AND TO CHANGE THE DEFINITION OF "INFANT".

Read the first time and referred to the Committee on Family and Veterans' Services.

H. 4187 -- Reps. W. Cox, Hill, West, Gagnon, Thayer and White: A BILL TO AMEND SECTION 6-11-273, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, RELATING TO TAX LEVY REFERENDUMS, SO AS TO PROVIDE THAT REFERENDUMS CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO THIS SECTION MUST BE SCHEDULED TO BE HELD AT THE SAME TIME AS THE GENERAL ELECTION.

Read the first time and referred to the Committee on Judiciary.

H. 4266 -- Reps. Rose, Bernstein, Alexander, Allison, Anderson, Atkinson, Bailey, Ballentine, Bamberg, Bannister, Bennett, Blackwell, Bradley, Brawley, Brittain, Bryant, Burns, Bustos, Calhoun, Carter, Caskey, Chumley, Clyburn, Cobb-Hunter, Cogswell, Collins, B. Cox, W. Cox, Crawford, Dabney, Daning, Davis, Dillard, Elliott, Erickson, Felder, Finlay, Forrest, Fry, Gagnon, Garvin, Gatch, Gilliam, Gilliard, Govan, Haddon, Hardee, Hart, Hayes, Henderson-Myers, Henegan, Herbkersman, Hewitt, Hill, Hiott, Hixon, Hosey, Howard, Huggins, Hyde, Jefferson, J. E. Johnson, J. L. Johnson, K. O. Johnson, Jones, Jordan, Kimmons, King, Kirby, Ligon, Long, Lowe, Lucas, Magnuson, Martin, Matthews, May, McCabe, McCravy, McDaniel, McGarry,

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

McGinnis, McKnight, J. Moore, T. Moore, Morgan, D. C. Moss, V. S. Moss, Murphy, Murray, B. Newton, W. Newton, Nutt, Oremus, Ott, Parks, Pendarvis, Pope, Rivers, Robinson, Rutherford, Sandifer, Simrill, G. M. Smith, G. R. Smith, M. M. Smith, Stavrinakis, Stringer, Taylor, Tedder, Thayer, Thigpen, Trantham, Weeks, West, Wetmore, Wheeler, White, Whitmire, R. Williams, S. Williams, Willis, Wooten and Yow: A CONCURRENT RESOLUTION TO CONGRATULATE COLONEL DAVID S. GAYLE, DIRECTOR OF JOINT OPERATIONS (J3) FOR THE SOUTH CAROLINA ARMY NATIONAL GUARD, UPON THE OCCASION OF HIS RETIREMENT, TO SALUTE HIM FOR HIS THIRTY-FOUR YEARS OF EXCEPTIONALLY MERITORIOUS SERVICE IN THE UNITED STATES ARMY AND THE GUARD, AND TO EXTEND BEST WISHES FOR CONTINUED SUCCESS AND FULFILLMENT IN THE YEARS TO COME.

The Concurrent Resolution was adopted, ordered returned to the House.

REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES

Senator ALEXANDER from the Committee on Labor, Commerce and Industry submitted a favorable report on:

S. 700 -- Senators Alexander and Climer: A SENATE RESOLUTION TO COMMEND THE REPUBLIC OF CHINA (TAIWAN) FOR ITS RELATIONS WITH THE UNITED STATES AND THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.

Ordered for consideration tomorrow.

Senator ALEXANDER from the Committee on Labor, Commerce and Industry submitted a favorable with amendment report on:

H. 3244 -- Reps. Collins, Cobb-Hunter, Huggins, Thayer, Anderson, Caskey, Govan and S. Williams: A BILL TO AMEND THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, TO ENACT THE "EMPLOYMENT FIRST INITIATIVE ACT" BY ADDING CHAPTER 5 TO TITLE 41 SO AS TO PROVIDE NECESSARY DEFINITIONS, TO ESTABLISH POLICIES SUPPORTIVE OF COMPETITIVE AND INTEGRATED EMPLOYMENT OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES, TO CREATE RELATED RESPONSIBILITIES FOR STATE AGENCIES AND POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS OF THE STATE, TO CREATE THE "SOUTH CAROLINA EMPLOYMENT FIRST OVERSIGHT COMMISSION",

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE COMPOSITION, FUNCTION, AND DUTIES OF THE COMMISSION.

Senator CLIMER from the Committee on Agriculture and Natural Resources submitted a favorable report on:

H. 3541 -- Reps. Hixon, Burns and Forrest: A BILL TO AMEND THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, BY ADDING SECTION 48-35-55 SO AS TO PROVIDE THAT THE REGULATION OF FIRES BY THE STATE FORESTER DOES NOT APPLY TO FIRES USED FOR THE PREPARATION OF FOOD OR FIRES USED IN APPROPRIATE ENCLOSURES; AND TO AMEND SECTION 48-23-96, RELATING TO THE APPOINTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS TO CARRY OUT THE ENFORCEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMISSION, SO AS TO ALLOW FOR THE ISSUANCE OF WARNING TICKETS.

Ordered for consideration tomorrow.

Senator CLIMER from the Committee on Agriculture and Natural Resources submitted a favorable report on:

H. 4035 -- Reps. Hiott, Bailey and Hewitt: A BILL TO AMEND ACT 129 OF 2014, RELATING TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA MANUFACTURER RESPONSIBILITY AND CONSUMER CONVENIENCE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY EQUIPMENT COLLECTION AND RECOVERY ACT, SO AS TO EXTEND THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 60, TITLE 48 UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2023, AND TO PROVIDE THAT THE PROVISIONS OF REGULATION 61-124 SHALL EXPIRE ON DECEMBER 31, 2023.

Ordered for consideration tomorrow.

Senator CLIMER from the Committee on Agriculture and Natural Resources submitted a favorable report on:

H. 4098 -- Regulations and Administrative Procedures Committee: A JOINT RESOLUTION TO APPROVE REGULATIONS OF THE CLEMSON UNIVERSITY-STATE CROP PEST COMMISSION, RELATING TO ASIAN LONGHORNED BEETLE QUARANTINE, DESIGNATED AS REGULATION DOCUMENT NUMBER 5015, PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE 1, CHAPTER 23, TITLE 1 OF THE 1976 CODE.

Ordered for consideration tomorrow.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Appointment Reported

Senator CLIMER from the Committee on Agriculture and Natural Resources submitted a favorable report on:

Statewide Appointment

Initial Appointment, South Carolina State Board of Veterinary Medical Examiners, with the term to commence April 6, 2018, and to expire April 6, 2024

5th Congressional District:

Christine E. White, 1520 Highcrest Way, Rock Hill, SC 29730-6668
VICE Dr. Gretchen Love

Received as information.

Message from the House

Columbia, S.C., April 26, 2021

Mr. President and Senators:

The House respectfully informs your Honorable Body that it has returned the following Bill to the Senate with amendments:

S. 229 -- Senators Shealy, McLeod, Hutto, Jackson, McElveen and Matthews: A BILL TO ENACT THE "SOUTH CAROLINA CHILD ABUSE RESPONSE PROTOCOL ACT"; TO AMEND CHAPTER 11, TITLE 63 OF THE 1976 CODE, RELATING TO CHILDREN'S SERVICES AGENCIES, BY ADDING ARTICLE 24, TO REQUIRE THAT MULTIDISCIPLINARY TEAMS INVOLVED IN CHILD ABUSE INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION FOLLOW CERTAIN CHILD ABUSE RESPONSE PROTOCOL, TO PROVIDE FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN ADVISORY COMMITTEE TO REVIEW AND UPDATE THE PROTOCOL, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES; AND TO AMEND SECTION 63-11-310(B)(1), (C), AND (D) OF THE 1976 CODE, RELATING TO CHILDREN'S ADVOCACY CENTERS, TO REQUIRE CHILDREN'S ADVOCACY CENTERS TO HOLD CERTAIN ACCREDITATION STATUS OR BE ACTIVELY PURSUING ACCREDITATION, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

Very respectfully,
Speaker of the House

Received as information.

Placed on Calendar for consideration tomorrow.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Message from the House

Columbia, S.C., April 27, 2021

Mr. President and Senators:

The House respectfully informs your Honorable Body that it concurs in the amendments proposed by the Senate to:

H. 4064 -- Reps. G.M. Smith, Sandifer and Weeks: A BILL TO AMEND SECTION 12-37-220, AS AMENDED, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, RELATING TO PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTIONS, SO AS TO CLARIFY THAT MANUFACTURING PROPERTY OWNED OR LEASED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY REGULATED BY THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOES NOT QUALIFY FOR A 14.2857 PERCENT EXEMPTION.

and has ordered the Bill enrolled for Ratification.

Very respectfully,

Speaker of the House

Received as information.

Message from the House

Columbia, S.C., April 27, 2021

Mr. President and Senators:

The House respectfully informs your Honorable Body that it concurs in the amendments proposed by the Senate to:

H. 3805 -- Reps. B. Cox, Erickson, Davis, Allison, Wooten, McGarry, Hill, Pope, Caskey, McCabe, Oremus, T. Moore, W. Newton, Ligon, Blackwell, R. Williams, Jefferson, Hixon, Taylor, S. Williams and Matthews: A BILL TO AMEND THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, BY ADDING ARTICLE 147 TO CHAPTER 3, TITLE 56 SO AS TO PROVIDE THE DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES MAY ISSUE VARIOUS MILITARY SPECIAL LICENSE PLATES; AND TO REPEAL ARTICLES 7, 8, 14, 15, 16, 33, 38, 43, 53, 55, 56, 57, 59, 63, 68, 74, 84, 88, 99, 101, 102, 103, 104, 106, 107, 110, 111, 112, 115, 116, 117, 129, 131, 132, 143, and 144, CHAPTER 3 OF TITLE 56, RELATING TO THE ISSUANCE OF "WARTIME DISABLED VETERAN SPECIAL LICENSE PLATES", FREE VEHICULAR REGISTRATION FOR FORMER PRISONERS OF WAR, THE ISSUANCE OF SPECIAL LICENSE PLATES FOR MEMBERS OF THE UNITED STATES MILITARY RESERVES AND NATIONAL GUARD, MEDAL OF HONOR RECIPIENTS, PURPLE HEART RECIPIENTS, MEMBERS OF THE AMERICAN

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

LEGION, RETIRED MEMBERS OF THE UNITED STATES ARMED FORCES, AND NORMANDY INVASION AND PEARL HARBOR SURVIVORS, THE ISSUANCE OF MEMBERS OF THE UNITED STATES ARMED SERVICES, UNITED STATES NAVAL ACADEMY, UNITED STATES AIR FORCE ACADEMY, SUPPORT OUR TROOPS, KOREAN WAR VETERANS, VIETNAM VETERANS, MARINE CORPS LEAGUE, WORLD WAR II VETERANS, GOLD STAR FAMILY OPERATION DESERT STORM-DESERT SHIELD, OPERATION ENDURING FREEDOM VETERAN, OPERATION IRAQI FREEDOM VETERAN, SILVER STAR, BRONZE STAR, UNITED STATES, NAVY CHIEF PETTY OFFICER, UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS, DISTINGUISHED SERVICE MEDAL, DISTINGUISHED SERVICE CROSS, DEPARTMENT OF NAVY, PARENTS AND SPOUSES OF ACTIVE-DUTY OVERSEAS VETERANS, ACTIVE DUTY MEMBERS OF THE UNITED STATES ARMED FORCES, COMBAT-RELATED DISABLED VETERAN, RECIPIENTS OF THE DISTINGUISHED FLYING CROSS, PALMETTO CROSS, AND LEGION OF MERIT SPECIAL LICENSE PLATES.

and has ordered the Bill enrolled for Ratification.

Very respectfully,

Speaker of the House

Received as information.

Message from the House

Columbia, S.C., April 27, 2021

Mr. President and Senators:

The House respectfully informs your Honorable Body that it concurs in the amendments proposed by the Senate to:

H. 3017 -- Reps. Davis, Atkinson, B. Newton, Magnuson, Fry, Daning, Felder, May, Long, Pope, Forrest, Oremus, M.M. Smith, Yow, McGinnis, Govan, Brawley, Willis, Henderson-Myers, Jones and McDaniel: A BILL TO AMEND SECTION 59-104-20, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, RELATING TO ELIGIBILITY FOR PALMETTO FELLOWS SCHOLARSHIPS, SO AS TO INCLUDE TWO-YEAR INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING AND TECHNICAL COLLEGES AMONG INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING WHOSE STUDENTS MAY BE ELIGIBLE FOR THE SCHOLARSHIPS.

and has ordered the Bill enrolled for Ratification.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Very respectfully,
Speaker of the House
Received as information.

Message from the House

Columbia, S.C., April 27, 2021

Mr. President and Senators:

The House respectfully informs your Honorable Body that it concurs in the amendments proposed by the Senate to:

H. 3689 -- Rep. Allison: A BILL TO AMEND SECTION 56-3-190, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, RELATING TO THE REGISTRATION AND LICENSURE OF VEHICLES BY THE DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES, SO AS TO PROVIDE THAT IF A COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLE IS REGISTERED THROUGH THE INTERNATIONAL REGISTRATION PLAN AND IS OPERATED UNDER A UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (USDOT) NUMBER ASSIGNED TO A PERSON OTHER THAN THE VEHICLE'S OWNER, THEN THE PERSON TO WHOM THE USDOT NUMBER IS ASSIGNED MAY REGISTER THE COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLE BY SUBMITTING THE APPROPRIATE APPLICATION AND FEES TO THE DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES.

and has ordered the Bill enrolled for Ratification.

Very respectfully,
Speaker of the House

Received as information.

Motion to Ratify Adopted

At 12:31 P.M., Senator MASSEY made a motion to invite the House of Representatives to attend the Senate Chamber for the purpose of ratifying Acts at a mutually convenient time.

The motion was adopted and a message was sent to the House accordingly.

**THE SENATE PROCEEDED TO A CONSIDERATION OF
H. 4100, THE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS BILL.**

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

**REPORT OF THE SENATE FINANCE
COMMITTEE ADOPTED**

AMENDED, READ THE SECOND TIME

H. 4100 -- Ways and Means Committee: A BILL TO MAKE APPROPRIATIONS AND TO PROVIDE REVENUES TO MEET THE ORDINARY EXPENSES OF STATE GOVERNMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2021, TO REGULATE THE EXPENDITURE OF SUCH FUNDS, AND TO FURTHER PROVIDE FOR THE OPERATION OF STATE GOVERNMENT DURING THIS FISCAL YEAR AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

The Senate proceeded to a consideration of the Bill, the question being the adoption of the amendment proposed by the Committee on Finance.

Senator LEATHERMAN spoke on the report.

**Report of the Subcommittee on
Natural Resources and Economic Development**

Senator SETZLER, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Natural Resources and Economic Development, was recognized to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

**Report of the Subcommittee on
Transportation and Regulatory Laws**

Senator JACKSON, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Transportation and Regulatory Laws, was recognized to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

**Report of the Subcommittee on
Health and Human Services**

Senator ALEXANDER, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Health and Human Services, was recognized to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

**Report of the Subcommittee on
Constitutional Officers and Administrative Laws**

Senator CROMER, on behalf of the Chairman of the Subcommittee on Constitutional and Administrative Laws, was recognized to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Report of the Subcommittee on Criminal Justice

Senator MARTIN, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Criminal Justice, was recognized to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

Report of the Subcommittee on K-12 Education

Senator BENNETT, Chairman of the Subcommittee on K-12 Education, was recognized to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

Report of the Subcommittee on Higher Education

Senator PEELER, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Higher Education, recognized Senator TURNER to report to the Senate regarding the work of the subcommittee.

Motion Adopted

Report of the Committee on Finance Adopted

Senator LEATHERMAN asked unanimous consent to make a motion that the Report of the Committee on Finance be adopted, with all members reserving the right to raise any Points of Order and to offer amendments without regard to questions of degree.

There was no objection.

The report of the Committee on Finance was adopted.

Motion Adopted

On motion of Senator LEATHERMAN, with unanimous consent, staff members from the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office were authorized as necessary to be in that area behind the rail and, further, that Finance Committee staff, Majority and Minority Caucus staff and other staff designated by the PRESIDENT were admitted to the floor of the Senate Chamber while debate was in progress on H. 4100, the General Appropriations Bill.

There was no objection and the motion was adopted.

Senator LEATHERMAN spoke on the report.

Amendment No. 6

Senators SHEALY, MARTIN and ALEXANDER proposed the following amendment (BH AID TO SUB-TREAS-SHERIFF), which was adopted (#1):

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IA, Section 113, AID TO SUBDIVISIONS - STATE TREASURER, page 262, line 14, by:

	COLUMN 7	COLUMN 8
/ STRIKING:	72,450	72,450 and
INSERTING:	144,900	144,900/

Re-number sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator MARTIN spoke on the amendment.

The amendment was adopted.

Amendment No. 8

Senators HEMBREE and GOLDFINCH proposed the following amendment (AGM 5 YR OLD ELIGIBILITY FOR 4K), which was adopted (#2):

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 1, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, page 294, proviso 1.56, after line 34, by inserting:

/ For Fiscal Year 2021-22, in response to the COVID-19 crisis, children who were eligible to participate in the Child Early Reading Development and Education Program in the prior fiscal year but did not participate, shall be eligible to participate in the program during Fiscal Year 2021-22, subject to classroom availability and funding. /

Amend the bill further, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 1A, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - EIA, page 323, proviso 1A.29, after line 34, by inserting:

/ For Fiscal Year 2021-22, in response to the COVID-19 crisis, children who were eligible to participate in the Child Early Reading Development and Education Program in the prior fiscal year but did not participate, shall be eligible to participate in the program during Fiscal Year 2021-22, subject to classroom availability and funding. /

Re-number sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator HEMBREE spoke on the amendment.

The amendment was adopted.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Point of Order

Senator MARTIN raised a Point of Order under Rule 24A that Proviso 78.4 of Part 1B was out of order inasmuch as it was not germane to the Bill.

78.4. (INS: Fees for Title Insurance) For Fiscal Year 2021-22, the Department of Insurance shall suspend collections of the municipal tax that is due for Tax Year 2021 on the portion of title insurance premiums that an agent retains for companies that domesticated in the state of South Carolina during Fiscal Year 2020-21.

The PRESIDENT took the Point of Order under advisement.

Point of Order

Senator MARTIN raised a Point of Order under Rule 24A that Proviso 1A.75 of Part 1B was out of order inasmuch as it was not germane to the Bill.

1A.75. (SDE-EIA: Report Card Date) For the current fiscal year, the department is directed to produce the school report cards by November 1.

The PRESIDENT took the Point of Order under advisement.

Amendment No. 10

Senator HEMBREE proposed the following amendment (AGM 1.96 STUDENT ASSESSMENT V.2), which was carried over:

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 1, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, page 309, proviso 1.96, line 3, by inserting a line at the beginning to read:

/ For the 2021-2022 school year, districts must ensure all students in first through ninth grades are assessed using a state approved interim assessment tool during the fall, winter, and spring. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator HEMBREE spoke on the amendment.

On motion of Senator HEMBREE, the amendment was carried over.

Amendment No. 15A

Senators HEMBREE, GUSTAFSON, MARTIN and KIMBRELL proposed the following amendment (SM VIRTUAL SCHOOL FUNDING SEN. HEMBREE V.2), which was carried over:

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 1, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, page 310, proviso 1.103 (SDE:

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Public School Virtual Program Funding), lines 25 - 34, by striking the proviso in its entirety, and inserting

/ 1.103. (SDE: Public School Virtual Program Funding) For Fiscal Year 2021-22, school districts shall be permitted to offer a virtual education program for up to five percent of its student population based on the most recent 135 day ADM count without impacting any state funding. The Department of Education shall establish guidelines for the virtual program and parameters students must meet in order to participate in the virtual program. School districts must submit their plans for the virtual program to the State Board of Education for approval.

School districts offering a virtual program must report their ADM counts for students participating in their virtual program and the number of students participating face to face for the 5th, 45th, 90th, and 135th day to the Department of Education.

For every student participating in the virtual program above the five percent threshold, the school district will not receive 47.22% of the State per pupil funding provided to that district as reported in the latest Revenue and Fiscal Affairs revenue per pupil report pursuant to Proviso 1.3. This amount shall be withheld from the EFA portion of the State Aid to Classroom's district allocation and, if necessary, the state minimum teacher salary schedule portion of State Aid to Classrooms. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator HEMBREE spoke on the amendment.

On motion of Senator HEMBREE, the amendment was carried over.

Amendment No. 12

Senator BENNETT proposed the following amendment (AGM 1A.73 RETIREE SALARY), which was carried over:

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 1A, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - EIA, page 339, proviso 1A.73, line 20, after /districts./ by inserting / The department may not pay a retiree who qualifies for the earnings limitation exception under this provision more than \$125,000 per year. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator BENNETT spoke on the amendment.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

On motion of Senator BENNETT, the amendment was carried over.

Amendment No. 16

Senator CASH proposed the following amendment (4100R032.KMM.RJC.DOCX), which was carried over:

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 33, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, page 370, after line 33, by adding an appropriately numbered new proviso to read:

/33. (DHHS: Defunding Planned Parenthood) None of the state funds appropriated for family planning may be expended to directly or indirectly subsidize abortion services, procedures, or administrative functions. Furthermore, none of the state funds appropriated herein may be paid or granted to an organization that provides abortion services. An otherwise qualified organization may not be disqualified from the receipt of these funds because of its affiliation with an organization that provides abortion services, provided that the affiliated organization that provides abortion services is independent of the qualified organization. An independent affiliate that provides abortion services must be separately incorporated from any organization that receives these funds. An organization that provides abortion services in which the life of a mother is at risk and the termination of a pregnancy is incidental to the lifesaving intervention is excepted from the above restriction on state family planning funds and may receive state family planning funds, provided that physicians shall act in accordance with the standard of care to preserve both the life of the mother and the life of the pre-born child. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator CASH spoke on the amendment.

Point of Order

Senator HUTTO raised a Point of Order under Rule 24A that the amendment was out of order inasmuch as it was not germane to the Bill.

The PRESIDENT took the Point of Order under advisement.

On motion of Senator ALEXANDER, the amendment was carried over.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Amendment No. 11

Senators SENN and CAMPSEN proposed the following amendment (SA\4100C006.NBD.SA21.DOCX), which was adopted (#3):

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 34, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL, page 382, after line 10, by adding an appropriately numbered new proviso to read:

/ (DHEC: Drainage Facilities) In the current fiscal year, the Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) may not enforce the prohibition against maintenance, repair, or reestablishment activities performed by an approved organization on storm water conveyance systems including, but not limited to, previously established storm water conveyance systems constructed in accordance with state and federal law that are located within critical areas, as defined in Section 48-39-10(J) of the 1976 Code. Maintenance, repair, and reestablishment activities performed pursuant to this provision must be compliant with all state, federal, and local laws, regulations, and guidelines. For previously approved storm water conveyance systems, reestablishment activities performed pursuant to this provision may not exceed the footprint of the previously approved storm water conveyance system. Approved organizations performing maintenance, repair, or reestablishment activities pursuant to this provision must notify DHEC of the location of each storm water conveyance system, repaired, maintained, or reestablished and identify the type of maintenance, repair, or reestablishment activity conducted. Expenditures incurred pursuant to this proviso are to originate from funds provided by the approved organization performing the maintenance, repair, or reestablishment activities unless otherwise agreed upon by the approved organization and DHEC. For the purposes of this proviso, an approved organization includes local jurisdictions, public service, and special purpose districts, agencies, and political subdivisions of this State. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator SENN spoke on the amendment.

The amendment was adopted.

Amendment No. 1

Senators HEMBREE and MARTIN proposed the following amendment (MO DRUG COURT FUNDING), which was carried over:

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 60, PROSECUTION COORDINATION COMMISSION, page 414, after line 28, by adding an appropriately numbered new proviso to read:

/ (PCC: Drug Court Funding) The funds appropriated to the Prosecution Coordination Commission for drug court funding and distributed to the Offices of Solicitor shall be used for the purpose of operating drug courts and other diversion programs. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator HEMBREE spoke on the amendment.

On motion of Senator HEMBREE, the amendment was carried over.

Amendment No. 33

Senator CORBIN proposed the following amendment (4100R034.SP.TDC.DOCX), which was adopted (#4):

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 117, GENERAL PROVISIONS, page 491, proviso 117.21, after line 27, by inserting:

/ For the purposes of this paragraph, "nonprofit organization" means an organization recognized by the South Carolina Department of Revenue and the United States Internal Revenue Service as exempt from federal and state income taxation pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3), 501(c)(4), 501(c)(6), 501(c)(7), 501(c)(8), 501(c)(10), 501(c)(19), or 501(d). Each nonprofit organization that receives a contribution from an entity that receives an appropriation in this act shall submit to the Executive Budget Office and the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office, by the end of this fiscal year, a detailed statement explaining the nature and function of the nonprofit organization, including programming descriptions; staffing information, including full and part time positions and the number of positions available versus positions filled; salaries for each position and any supporting documentation; and other information detailing the use of total funds expended by the organization, as well as a detailed statement explaining the use that was made of the contribution. The statements must be available at the Executive Budget Office and the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office for public inspection and must be provided to a member of the General Assembly upon request. A contribution must not be made to an organization until it agrees in writing to allow the State Auditor to audit or cause to be audited the contributed funds. /

Renumber sections to conform.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator CORBIN spoke on the amendment.

The amendment was adopted.

Amendment No. 5

Senator CROMER proposed the following amendment (SM 117.116 RETAIL FACILITIES REVITALIZATION), which was adopted (#5):

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 117, GENERAL PROVISIONS, page 520, proviso 117.116, line 2, by striking /2020-21/ and inserting /2021-22/

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator CROMER spoke on the amendment.

The amendment was adopted.

Amendment No. 19

Senator MARTIN proposed the following amendment (AGM 117.163 COVID-19), which was adopted (#6):

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 117, GENERAL PROVISIONS, page 536, proviso 117.163, line 22, by inserting at the end:

/ In instances of off-campus learning events for which third party program providers require proof of vaccination, the third party requirements shall apply. /

Renumber sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

Senator MARTIN spoke on the amendment.

Senator KIMPSON spoke on the amendment.

The question then was the adoption of the amendment.

The "ayes" and "nays" were demanded and taken, resulting as follows:

Ayes 43; Nays 3

AYES

Alexander

Allen

Bennett

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Campsen	Climer	Corbin
Cromer	Davis	Fanning
Gambrell	Garrett	Goldfinch
Grooms	Gustafson	Harpootlian
Hembree	Hutto	Jackson
<i>Johnson, Kevin</i>	<i>Johnson, Michael</i>	Kimbrell
Kimpson	Leatherman	Loftis
Malloy	Martin	Massey
Matthews	McElveen	McLeod
Peeler	Rankin	Sabb
Scott	Senn	Setzler
Shealy	Stephens	Talley
Turner	Verdin	Williams
Young		

Total--43

NAYS

Adams	Cash	Rice
-------	------	------

Total--3

The amendment was adopted.

Amendment No. 38

Senators MASSEY, KIMBRELL, CORBIN, CASH, CLIMER, RICE, MARTIN, GARRETT, GUSTAFSON, LOFTIS and TALLEY proposed the following amendment (4100R035.SP.ASM.DOCX), which was adopted (#7):

Amend the bill, as and if amended, Part IB, Section 117, GENERAL PROVISIONS, page 537, proviso 117.166, lines 3 - 6, by striking the proviso in its entirety, and inserting /117.166. (GP: Federal Gun Law)

For the current fiscal year, no law enforcement agency that receives state or local funds shall enforce a federal law, regulation, statute, executive order, or procedure related to firearms put into effect after January 1, 2021, if any such federal action requires the seizure of a firearm, firearm part, or firearm component solely because of its classification or type of weapon./

Re-number sections to conform.

Amend sections, totals and title to conform.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Senator MASSEY spoke on the amendment.

Point of Order

Senator SCOTT raised a Point of Order under Rule 24A that the amendment was out of order inasmuch as it was not germane to the Bill.

Senator MASSEY spoke on the Point of Order.
Senator SCOTT spoke on the Point of Order.
Senator MARTIN spoke on the Point of Order.
Senator HUTTO spoke on the Point of Order.

The PRESIDENT overruled the Point of Order.

Senator HARPOOTLIAN spoke on the amendment.
Senator GUSTAFSON spoke on the amendment.

ACTING PRESIDENT PRESIDES

Senator TURNER assumed the Chair.

Senator KIMPSON spoke on the amendment.

PRESIDENT PRESIDES

At 4:43 P.M., the PRESIDENT assumed the Chair.

Senator KIMPSON continued speaking on the amendment.
Senator MALLOY spoke on the amendment.
Senator HUTTO spoke on the amendment.
Senator JOHNSON spoke on the amendment.
Senator JACKSON spoke on the amendment.

The question then was the adoption of the amendment.

The "ayes" and "nays" were demanded and taken, resulting as follows:

Ayes 30; Nays 11

AYES

Adams	Alexander	Bennett
Campsen	Cash	Climer
Corbin	Cromer	Davis
Gambrell	Garrett	Goldfinch
Grooms	Gustafson	Hembree

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

<i>Johnson, Michael</i>	Kimbrell	Leatherman
Loftis	Martin	Massey
Peeler	Rankin	Rice
Senn	Shealy	Talley
Turner	Verdin	Young

Total--30

NAYS

Allen	Fanning	Harpootlian
Jackson	<i>Johnson, Kevin</i>	Kimpson
Matthews	McLeod	Sabb
Stephens	Williams	

Total--11

The amendment was adopted.

Motion Adopted

Senator LEATHERMAN asked unanimous consent to make a motion to give the Bill a second reading, carry over all amendments and waive the provisions of Rule 26B in order to allow amendments to be considered on third reading.

There was no objection.

Motion Adopted

On motion of Senator MASSEY, the Senate agreed that if and when the Senate stands adjourned today, that it will adjourn to meet tomorrow morning at 12:00 P.M.

REPORTS RECEIVED

**Joint Screening Committee
For The Legislative Audit Council**

Report to the General Assembly April 27, 2021

The Joint Screening Committee for the Legislative Audit Council found the following individuals qualified and nominated for the Trustee seat to which they applied. These individuals will be released to receive commitments on Thursday, April 29, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. The concurrent resolution adopted by the General Assembly set the election for Wednesday, May 5, 2021 at 12:00 noon. A complete transcript of

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

the hearings for these candidates will be printed in today's Senate and House Journals.

Legislative Audit Council

At-Large Seat - expires 2027 (one seat)

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Dennis P. Caldwell -- *Columbia*

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA JOINT SCREENING
COMMITTEE FOR THE LEGISLATIVE AUDIT COUNCIL
SCREENING HEARINGS**

Wednesday, April 7, 2021

The within hearings, reported by Kathryn B Bostrom, Court Reporter and Notary Public in and for the State of South Carolina; said hearings were taken at the Gressette Building, Room 209, Columbia, South Carolina, on Wednesday, the 7th day of April, 2021, commencing at the hour of 9:33 a.m.

APPEARANCES: Committee Members: Senator Thomas C. Alexander Senator John L. Scott Senator Daniel B. Verdin Representative Chandra E. Dillard Representative Jeffrey E. Johnson Representative William E. Sandifer Committee Staff Martha Casto Julie Price Court Reporter: Kathryn Bostrom, Garber Reporting

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Good morning. I will call this meeting of the joint screening committee of the legislative audit council to order. We appreciate members of the screening committee being present to do the work on this Wednesday April 7. The business before us today is the screening of at large position of the legislative audit Council that expires in 2027. Let the record reflect that we have a unanimous members of our screening committee present for this. We have before us one candidate, Mr. Dennis Caldwell, here in Columbia. If you would come forward and before you're seated, I would like to swear you in. If you'll raise your right hand. DENNIS CALDWELL, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We appreciate your willingness to be considered for this position of the legislative audit Council. Would you like to make a brief statement about why you would have an interest in serving on the Legislative Council.

MR. CALDWELL: Yes, sir. Thank you. Thank you all for your time and for allowing me to come and appear before you today. You have my packet and you have a letter that I have written and handed out this

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

morning. Just briefly I have been in public service my whole life. Whether it's for government or nonprofit organizations, my adult life. Except for one time for a few years. And certainly as a kid, I wasn't in public service. I was shoveling snow and raking leaves and stuff to earn money. But after that I grew up. I think I grew up, but anyway. I've been in public service and I thoroughly enjoy it. I've been in many positions in the healthcare field. Presently, I'm a chaplain at the Lexington County jail and on death row. I can't get into those. I'm a volunteer one, meaning I don't get paid. Which is fine, I don't do it for money. So I'm a substitute teacher in District Five and have a wonderful time doing that. But my background is in Health and Human Services. I was the first director of South Carolina Health and Human Services Finance Division, which later became Health and Human Services agency in the state, and hospital administration and retirement village. So I have worked with all levels of government and I feel like I have a good understanding of how the levels of government work together and work with nonprofit organizations. So I think I can bring a lot of insight and I appreciate y'all listening and inviting me today. And if I am elected I'm really excited about doing this as a public service. Thank you very much for having me here.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. And staff has received -- we have before us the information you have provided to the screening committee. Is there any additions, changes, deletions or any information that needs to be updated since you have submitted this information?

MR. CALDWELL: No, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So you say here that Legislative Audit Council is to do independent objective performance audits requested of the General Assembly. So you see that as the role of the work of the audit Council?

MR. CALDWELL: Yes, sir. It's of vital importance to carry out things of the direction of the General Assembly and the functions that they want to look at and the audit council comes behind and does that. Yes, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Are there any questions for members of the screening committee? Senator from Richland.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Caldwell, for your willingness to serve. Let me say that at this stage in life and career, your willingness to serve and looking at your resume also as a person who spent of a lot of time and finance, auditing and state government -- I'm excited because experience you have is very broad. And looking at with their work is going to be like, I think you'll be a good fit for it. But other than that because of the longevity that you've shown, it's just experience across

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

the board. I think that will help with some of the small stuff they may have to go through.

MR. CALDWELL: Yes, sir. I think my experience will help guide me what to look for and what to ask for and be very helpful to you all doing this.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Is there anything — you outlined the work that you are doing, is there anything that precludes you from being available to do the work as a member of the Legislative Audit Council?

MR. CALDWELL: No, sir. Right now I am a substitute teacher working for Kelley, but I will not be doing that in the fall. If I'm elected to this position, I would want to be able to devote my time to that. And the school system being a substitute teacher, although I thoroughly enjoy it, so is there is nothing.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Any comments or questions?

REPRESENTATIVE DILLARD: Thank you for being with us. First of all, thank you, Mr. Chairman, thank you, Mr. Caldwell. I'm just curious now, have you been teaching during COVID?

MR. CALDWELL: Say that again, ma'am?

REPRESENTATIVE DILLARD: Have you been substitute teaching during COVID?

MR. CALDWELL: Yes, ma'am. The school needed help. I signed up in August and wore a mask two days a week, and then three days and then five and I got my shot in February so was doing it without it yes. I have had a blessed time as a substitute and still will to the end of the year.

REPRESENTATIVE DILLARD: Thank you for that service. If you can do that you can certainly serve. Thank you so much.

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay, we have a motion for favorable.

REPRESENTATIVE SANDIFER: Seconded.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We have a motion for favorable report and a second from Representative Sandifer. Is there any discussion to that motion? If not, we will take it to a vote on the favorable report that will be provided to the full General Assembly of Mr. Dennis Caldwell of Columbia as at-large member of the Legislative Audit Council. All in favor of that motion, please say aye.

PANEL MEMBERS: Aye.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Any opposition? You are unanimously recommended to the General Assembly and staff will be getting with you when that has been determined and also when you're eligible to seek commitments.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. CALDWELL: Thank you all very much and I will not let you down.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We have great confidence in you. That's the purpose of our meeting today. And I will entertain a motion that we adjourn.

SENATOR SCOTT: So moved.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Anybody who wants to stay can stay, but otherwise, we stand adjourned. (There being no further questions, the hearings concluded at 9:41 am)

**College and University Trustee
Screening Commission
Report to the General Assembly
April 27, 2021**

The College and University Trustee Screening Commission found the following individuals qualified and nominated for the Trustee seats to which they applied. These individuals will be released to receive commitments on Thursday, April 29, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. The concurrent resolution adopted by the General Assembly set the election for Wednesday, May 5, 2021 at 12:00 noon. A complete transcript of the hearings for these candidates will be printed in today's Senate and House Journals.

Coastal Carolina University

2nd Congressional District - seat 2 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Oran P. Smith -- West Columbia

4th Congressional District - seat 4 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Brad Poston -- Greenville

6th Congressional District - seat 6 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

John H. Bartell -- Lake City

At-Large - seat 8 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Jason Repak -- Myrtle Beach

At-Large - seat 10 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Mark S. Kelley -- *Conway*
Robert L. O'Brien -- *Myrtle Beach*

At-Large - seat 12 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Brett C. Porterfield -- *Columbia*

H. Delan Stevens -- *Conway*

At-Large - seat 14 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Joe N. Jarrett, Jr. -- *Myrtle Beach*

At-Large - seat 15 expires 2025

CANDIDATE FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Patrick Sparks -- *Myrtle Beach*

Winthrop University

At-Large - seat 10 - expires 2027

CANDIDATES FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Glenn A. McCall -- *Rock Hill*

Old Exchange Commission

At-Large - expires 2027 (one seat)

CANDIDATES FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

Greg Ohanesian -- *Bennettsville*

Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School

At-Large - expires 2025 (four seats)

CANDIDATES FOUND QUALIFIED AND NOMINATED

D. Stewart Cooner -- *West Columbia*

Cheryl H. Fralick -- *Lexington*

Michael D. Moss -- *Duncan*

Micheal J. Pryor -- *Branchville*

Gregory Vaughn -- *Pendleton*

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY
TRUSTEE SCREENING COMMISSION SCREENING
HEARINGS**

Monday, April 12, 2021

The within hearings, reported by Kathryn B Bostrom, Court Reporter
and Notary Public in and for the State of South Carolina; said hearings

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

were taken at the Gressette Building, Room 209, Columbia, South Carolina, on Monday, the 12th day of April, 2021, commencing at the hour of 11:52 a.m.

APPEARANCES: Committee Members: Senator Harvey S. Peeler, Chairman Representative William R. Whitmire, Vice Chairman Senator Thomas C. Alexander Senator John L. Scott Senator Daniel B. Verdin Representative Kirkman Finlay Representative James H. Lucas Committee Staff Martha Casto Julie Price Court Reporter: Kathryn Bostrom, Garber Reporting

SENATOR PEELER: I'd like to call the meeting to order. This is a meeting of the College and University of Trustee Screening Commission. I pray that God continues to bless us all. I understand that Representative King is not going to make it, and I think the speaker is on the way, but if there's no objection, we'll go ahead and get started. Welcome everyone. You have an agenda before you. First of all, Winthrop University, at large, seat 10. Glenn McCall, Rock Hill. Good morning, sir.

MR. MCCALL: Good morning, Senator, everyone.

SENATOR PEELER: It's always a pleasure to see you, sir.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir, same here.

SENATOR PEELER: If you would, let me swear you in.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir. GLENN A. MCCALL having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir. I'd like to thank each of you for this opportunity to come before you and to be considered once again to serve on the Winthrop University Board of Trustees. As each of you know, these are challenging times, not only for Winthrop but higher ed overall. For one, we're having fewer students that are coming to the university and just through the demographic shifts things are changing also. You probably saw last week a Gallop Poll that said parents, or 46 percent of parents would love for their students to do something other than a four year college degree as far as going to technical school, getting an education or training that would allow them to go right into the job market with an employable skill. So we're having great competition, but I think there is opportunity to continue to be prosperous and to grow over time at Winthrop University. So, thank you, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Any questions or comments. Mr. Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Yes, sir. Thank you, Mr. McCall for your willingness to serve. I see that you are now the chair?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. MCCALL: Yes, have been for the last three years.

SENATOR SCOTT: Yes, sir. How long have you been on the board now?

MR. MCCALL: I have been on the board since 2012, 2011.

SENATOR SCOTT: Tell me a little bit about in the last 12, this last nine years, the diversity plans since we started talking about the diversity plan. You know, when you get to be chair, you're in the hot seat.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir. Well, Winthrop, as you know -- we have 5,800 students. Of those, 38 percent of our student body is students of color and primarily African American. The university does a great job. As you probably already know, that of our student body close to 47 percent are Pell eligible students, so we have a mix of diverse students. And we're continuing to grow that, but what we could like also, we want to reach out to those students and first in students, but we would like a little more diversity within that diversity. We would like students from all walks of life that can help afford to pay for some of their tuition. We've giving out quite a bit of funds each year for a scholarship to help those students, the needy student. So we're working towards that.

SENATOR SCOTT: Tell me about your out of state numbers.

MR. MCCALL: Our out of state numbers are fairly low. We were, I think, this last year -- eight percent of our student body was out of state.

SENATOR SCOTT: That's excellent. So where are you pulling your pool of students actually coming from?

MR. MCCALL: Our out of state students?

SENATOR SCOTT: No, in state students. Eight percent is good.

MR. MCCALL: Yeah, the majority of our in state students, believe it or not, are coming from the Pee Dee area, coming from Dillon County, Lee and Darlington and that area, so --

SENATOR SCOTT: So you've got a big influx that are coming from the Pee Dee area?

MR. MCCALL: We have a large influx.

SENATOR SCOTT: So what percentage would you say you think is coming out of the Pee Dee, if you know of the top of your head?

MR. MCCALL: I don't know off the top of my head exactly.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. One other thing. Tell me about the faculty and staff. It looks like you're doing pretty good with your students. How are you doing with faculty and staff, and I know lots of times it's hard to get immediate staff, but you've got --

MR. MCCALL: You're right.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: -- but you've got adjunct professors, a week promoting them. They'll be coming full time to help try to curb some of those issues. Tell me a little bit about what your plan is.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir. As you know from my material, I did 34 years in the corporate environment and banking and almost 20 with Bank of America --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: -- and I came here from Texas because of that primary reason --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: -- that Hugh McCall wanted to increase diversity in people of color --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: -- and especially in the markets we serve --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: -- and we're doing the same thing, since we have about 38 percent --

SENATOR SCOTT: Yeah.

MR. MCCALL: -- of students of color. We want within the administration --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: -- and the faculty that they can see those that look like them.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: So we're doing a good job. I would say within the administration we have two of color that serve in administration and also in the faculty. We're growing that. It's not as steep as we'd like it to be percentage wise, but as you can imagine, for faculty of color with terminal degrees, they have a lot of choices --

SENATOR SCOTT: Yeah.

MR. MCCALL: -- and we're trying to do all we can to reach out.

SENATOR SCOTT: Now the two that you do have, what are they -- are they committee chairs or vice presidents or what are they?

MR. MCCALL: Yes. We have a dean of our arts and science college that's a person of color.

SENATOR SCOTT: Yeah.

MR. MCCALL: And we also have several chairs and, of course faculty

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MCCALL: -- that are not only black, but we have several Muslim. We have Hispanic and so forth.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. Thank you so much. I remember when Bank of America built that center. I think Catherine Bessant was probably the --

MR. MCCALL: Right.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- lead VP across the country.

MR. MCCALL: Right.

SENATOR SCOTT: I remember y'all stealing our material from South Carolina and left us with virtually nothing, everything out of Charlotte, so I'm very familiar with that.

MR. MCCALL: Right.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you so much.

MR. MCCALL: Thank you, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? Vice Chairman, Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And welcome again, Mr. McCall.

MR. MCCALL: Thank you, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Having had a daughter graduate from Winthrop, I've always kind of -- and my mother, too, so --

MR. MCCALL: Thank you.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: -- excellent, excellent school.

MR. MCCALL: It is.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: You listed Winthrop's biggest weakness, don't do a good job of understanding which programs are generating revenue and which are not. Can you expand on that a little bit?

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir. I think one of the things that as a board we have been working with administration on -- understand, we provide, as you said, sir, a great education, but we also -- we're in the education of business, and we need to know the return on investments. We have 46 programs that we manage and we teach and instruct, but we don't know as of yet which of those are running a surplus or a deficit. So we're in that process of looking, and of course Covid has hastened a lot of the activities that we're doing like so many other universities to understand which programs are generating revenue and which are not. And it's just taking that focus, since the majority of the board come from the business industry, and they have business acumens, we feel that we need to understand that, to put revenue into those programs that have potential to grow. Those that are not growing, either we fix them or we discontinue those.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: How long do you think this process will take eventually?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. MCCALL: I would think by the end of the year. That's our goal --

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Okay.

MR. MCCALL: -- to have this information working with --

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Looking forward to hearing back from whoever the next trustees are coming for us --

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Representative Finlay.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Yes, sir. Good to see you again.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Hope you're well. You know, the point you just hit on is one that I think is across all universities. Some years ago, it was at another university, one that I'm sure Harvey Peeler or Senator Peeler thinks about probably morning, noon and night, and they made the point --

SENATOR PEELER: Not as much as Senator Alexander.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: -- and they made a very good point that -- perhaps this university is hypothetical -- for example, an education program and a nursing program have very different returns --

MR. MCCALL: Right.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: -- and not only for the students, but for the cost. And they said one of the struggles is that at times we, the state, require universities to stay in programs that lose a lot of money, and we don't always pick up the entire bill. Is that an issue y'all are facing?

MR. MCCALL: We feel it is from a high level and talking with deans and the chairs and not having the analysis done. We have analysis looking at an academic master plan, but it doesn't take into account the financial components of our program, so -- and that's what we're trying to get to the bottom of --

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: I very much --

MR. MCCALL: -- to understand that.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: -- look forward to seeing it, because I think if we're not careful, we're committing or creating a system where various universities in the state are competing for the same programs, and none of them achieve the economy of scale. So we're spending more, and I think what y'all are doing is to be commended, because it's going to be something that we have to do at all universities across the state to make sure we don't have a whole lot of duplication here.

MR. MCCALL: And I thank you for that, and I think you'll understand that. Most of you are -- have your own business or in business, and you

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

understand you can't run a business if you don't know which products are generating revenue and services and which are not, so --

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Verdin, Senator Alexander, which one? Go ahead, Senator Verdin.

SENATOR VERDIN: Thank you both, Senators. Mr. McCall, I appreciate the fact that we want the best educated, prepared students in all our institutions as possible.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir.

SENATOR VERDIN: We also want the best citizens. Now what I know about you is that you are very familiar with the founding documents, the founding fathers. When a senior matriculates or when a senior graduates from Winthrop, is he better off in the understanding of our body politic civil discourse, founding fathers, founding documents, documents of covenant in the Constitution than when he arrived there as a freshman?

MR. MCCALL: I wish I could say yes, completely -- say yes to that, and that is something that the board -- we have been discussing. We have worked with several organizations. We have a -- as a matter of fact, this fall the board had insisted that we have a conservative talk course teach that would talk about a conservative, not only the opposite to that, ideology, talk about the Constitution and why -- talk about capitalism, liberalism, socialism, so --

SENATOR VERDIN: Yeah. I wouldn't restrict even my thoughts to conservatism. I'm just interested, regardless of conservative or a liberal, someone who as a citizen of this country is more inclined to help build up the constitutional republic we live in rather than hasten its demise --

MR. MCCALL: Right.

SENATOR VERDIN: -- so -- and it's encouraging to know that you and your colleagues are attuned to this matter, which I believe the days in front of us are going to go more appointed to this.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir. Thank you.

SENATOR VERDIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Speaker, welcome.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Thank you, Mr. President.

SENATOR PEELER: Good to see you, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: I'm delighted to be here, and I appreciate being a part of this.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. President. And good to see you this morning.

MR. MCCALL: Yes, sir.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR ALEXANDER: In following up on the two representatives, and then also looking under five and you talk about the biggest weakness, understanding which programs generate the revenue and whatnot, but we also go on -- I think, the other part of that equation is training an employable skill set of creating a four year program to re-engineer our course of delivery process and the brick and mortar. So are you saying they're making sure that whatever, you're wanting to make sure that you've got degrees that they can go out and be employed and be productive citizens to kind of go along with the senator from Laurens?

MR. MCCALL: Yes.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So how do you -- is that part of the evaluation that you're doing on the other side of the cost benefit and being -- whether it's making money, but also isn't it making sure that the students are getting a degree that they can get a job with? So how do you balance that?

MR. MCCALL: Well, a great example, Senator Alexander, that we're working with is York Tech and having a bridge program. York Tech has a great program allowing students to go into corporate America in data mining, data analytics and coding, for example. And the Charlotte market is really huge in that. As a matter of fact, Wells Fargo, Bank of America, they're hiring those students and putting them through their training, and in a couple of years they're making 70, \$80,000.00. Well, a lot of those students will likely even get deeper into that topic around data security and cyber security, and so we're offering those bridge programs that help them to be employed. We're also -- this fall, we're coming out with certificate programs in cyber security and data analytics. So you don't have a degree to be -- to help you get those skill sets to be employed. Also, and I'll say finally, what we're asking our faculty and especially the business school, come up with a program, a degree program, that would allow students to get a degree, an employable degree in four years, not six, not seven, not eight, four years, because the market is demanding that. And we think we can do that working with York Tech in their bridged program facet.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. Thank you, Mr. President.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Anyone else? What is the desire of the committee?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: Okay. Favorable. Seconded? All in favor, raise your right hand. Opposed, none. Unanimous. Thank you so much for your willingness to continue to serve.

MR. MCCALL: Thank you, sir. Thank everyone.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR PEELER: Next Coastal Carolina University, the Second Congressional District, Seat 2, Oran Smith. Good afternoon, sir.

MR. SMITH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, give us your full name.

MR. SMITH: Yes, Oran Perry Smith.

SENATOR PEELER: Okay. Let me swear you in. ORAN PERRY SMITH, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. SMITH: The only brief statement I would like to offer is I provided the Committee with a lot of statistics as a part of my questionnaire because I wanted there to be a basis for some of the points that I made in that questionnaire, and I realize that those charts in many cases were very small, and I did not provide a magnifying glass to you. So Julie is kind enough -- Ms. Price is kind enough to be handing out larger versions of those charts with that data.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Senator Finlay pointed out my age earlier, so thank you for this.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir. I would simply say I am an original trustee of Coastal Carolina. When Coastal Carolina USC, Coastal Carolina College sought its independence and won that under the Campbell administration in 1993, a fresh board was elected from scratch, and I have been a member of the board since then. It's been my pleasure to be there and to watch this university grow.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions?

SENATOR VERDIN: Mr. Chairman, thank you. You're going to represent -- you're going to be the representative designated respondent for all your colleagues or candidates and applicants on Coastal before us today to answer that last question I asked of Mr. McCall. Of course, to me you're a known quantity. I was just counting back the years, 35 years ago we were roommates. So I know where you are as it relates to your commitment to the education of young people, because we were mighty young, but this is a matter of significance. It's a matter that's been bubbling up in the halls of the Legislature, debating the efficacy of a renewed focus here as it relates to civics, basic civics, founding documents, founding fathers, interpretations. What's going on?

MR. SMITH: Well, this is where, as far as Coastal Carolina goes, not to sound like the mother ship, but it may be a place where we might get a little bit cocky. And the reason for that is Coastal Carolina was blessed for many years with a member of our political science faculty who served on the core curriculum committee. And that core curriculum committee,

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

which revised the general educational requirements on a regular basis, this individual, who by the way is now a member of the Commission of Higher Education -- this individual made sure that in Coastal's core there would always be the requirement that every student that graduated from Coastal would have to complete an American history course or a political science course. Those were graduation requirements. And because of those requirements, we very easily have been able to follow the state law in regard to the federalist papers, the Constitution, the Declaration in that nature, because they are required as a portion of one of those two courses so that every student is exposed to those documents, is required to read those documents. And speaking of academic freedom, if I may, how those documents are taught are going to vary from professor to professor. So academic freedom is still present, but the requirement to know our founding documents is also present.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you, sir. Representative Finlay.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: So to be clear, in your opinion, Coastal is compliant with state law regarding the number of hours and in credits that are required on the founding documents?

MR. SMITH: Yes. I would even say uniquely compliant.

SENATOR PEELER: Representative Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and welcome again, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH: Thank you, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Not a question, but I just want to make a statement. I really appreciate you providing these higher ed statistics. I've never been able to compare all the schools in our state at one time, and this will be very telling for me when I start asking questions of the different schools, so thank you very much for that.

MR. SMITH: Thank you. And I think you'll see Coastal's position. You know, it is what it is, and in some of those charts -- there were nine charts I gave you -- I would say seven of those charts I'm very happy with where Coastal is. A couple of them -- Senator Scott, I'm not so happy where Coastal is, but hopefully that will be of help to you.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: It will, thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else?

SENATOR SCOTT: Yes, sir. Thank you again for your willingness --

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you again for your willingness to serve. I was looking at tuition, required fees full time, and saw an increase of 43 percent. That is your page number

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

5. How much of the tuition or in state funding is actually funded by local government in your area?

MR. SMITH: The role of local government for Coastal is primarily through our portion that we receive of the penny sales tax --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. SMITH: -- which is primarily on accommodation, so people who pass through Horry County are helping us pay for primarily buildings and buildings --

SENATOR SCOTT: Capital.

MR. SMITH: -- and what we have needed as our student body has grown from 4,000 when I was sworn in as a trustee to just under ten. So the ability to use penny sales tax dollars for capital expenditures has allowed us to not have to use tuition dollars to do that and allowed us for three years to have flat tuition. And to that also I would give the credit to our chairman of the board at the time, who was a CPA who went very deeply, much more than a typical trustee would do. He went very deeply into our expenses and found a way for us to freeze tuition for three years in a row, but the capital expenditures from the local citizens and then some support from the Horry County Higher Education Commission have helped us keep tuition very competitive.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay, great. I'm looking at your page 7. You talk about your student enrollment. On your diversity side, black males, black females compared to a total of 9,760 students, roughly 1,700. The makeup of other students of color at Coastal, you have 17.76, almost 18 percent. The other makeup of minority students at Coastal, a percentage Asian are the --

MR. SMITH: This chart was a little wider originally with Asian, I think, pacific islander --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. SMITH: -- and some other categories, but I just chose to kind of bore in on --

SENATOR SCOTT: That's okay.

MR. SMITH: -- on African American. As you can see, this is the chart that my predecessor before you would have wanted to hand out --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. SMITH: -- because this is where Winthrop really shines and Frances Marion really shines, and this is where we've got work to do, particularly with African American population, I think, being roughly 20

SENATOR SCOTT: Twenty-seven percent.

MR. SMITH: We have at least 12 points. And again, one of our board members says frequently, only that which gets recorded gets done, and

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

only that which gets tracked gets done. And part of my reason for sharing this is I hope if I come before you in the future if I should be so fortunate, that I hope this number's going to be much higher, but we know what it is. And this took some calculating, because it's not something that's readily available.

SENATOR SCOTT: What percentage of students are out of state students?

MR. SMITH: Currently undergraduate total headcount out of state students is 42 percent, so we're basically 58 in, 42 out. And that's based on the actual tuition rate that is paid by the student. So if a student is a member or part of the academic common market where we have students that may live out of state, but because that state may not have a program we have, they may be paying in state tuition. So the only footnote I would put on that is it is based on that, so 58 percent in state, 42 percent out of state.

SENATOR SCOTT: Where do most of your students come from, Coastal?

MR. SMITH: A large percentage from Horry and Georgetown Counties, which is sort of our home base.

SENATOR SCOTT: More regional.

MR. SMITH: But more regionally, primarily northeast. So out of state, not as much midwest, but more northeast, places that get really cold during the winter.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. They just love your beaches.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. Well, one other question. When you look at your in state students, which is the 58 percent, most of that 58 percent is more regional, kids who actually drive in, or most of these kids actually live on campus?

MR. SMITH: I would say generally that they are in sort of a metropolitan statistical area, from Myrtle Beach, Conway, Georgetown, not as strong north of -- well, in the 864, we're a little weak in the 864 area code, if we kind of picture that --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. SMITH: -- we're stronger in the 843 and the 803. In fact, our new president has made it one of his goals as to expose more people in the upstate to Coastal.

SENATOR SCOTT: Pell grants, what percent of your students are on Pell grants?

MR. SMITH: You know, I have an old chart that's a few years old --

SENATOR SCOTT: That's okay.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. SMITH: -- and I'm reluctant to rely on it --

SENATOR SCOTT: That's all right.

MR. SMITH: -- but --

SENATOR SCOTT: We won't hold you to it.

MR. SMITH: -- these numbers show about 30 percent.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And good afternoon, Dr. Smith. Always a pleasure to see you, and again, I appreciate the information that's been provided to you from that standpoint. Kind of following up, if you looked at all -- you said that the information you provided was based on the undergraduate. If you took it to the graduate level, does that change those dynamics?

MR. SMITH: It's very hard to stay ahead of Senator Alexander, but --

SENATOR PEELER: It's impossible.

MR. SMITH: These are charts that are -- the data is published by the Commission of Higher Education, and their higher education almanac and the first citation was tables 1.7. Table 1.8 is all students. So what I had before was undergraduate. All students is 51 percent in state.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Fifty-one percent are in state. Are you using that same designation, though, of those in state that if they -- if the state that they reside does not have that program, you are counting them as an in state, that they're paying in state tuition?

MR. SMITH: You know, this chart does not --

SENATOR ALEXANDER: You can get back to me. I was just curious

MR. SMITH: -- sorry about that.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: -- about that.

MR. SMITH: Right.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: It seems like y'all are making progress of having more in state students than out of state. That's not always been the case, right?

MR. SMITH: Right. We have been very heavily -- we have done well with out of state students, and they, of course, pay the full ride. And I think one of the charts I presented to you had in state versus out of state tuition change over time. And our out of state tuition and fees, we've made sure that that kept pace so that truly out of state students are paying the full ride.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. One final question. Getting back, are y'all also evaluating your courses of making sure that students are having an employable job once they get that degree at Coastal?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. SMITH: I think we do a fair job of that, maybe not as well as some of the private institutions. From an article I read recently in the Chronicle of Higher Education, our own Furman University does probably the best job in the state, based on this article, in tracking that. And that's something I think that we can do a better job of, and actually it's something that our new president has also called for.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: I would hope all higher education would do that.

MR. SMITH: And a part of that question maybe is the whole issue of the courses and whether they are losers, money losers. We made some unpopular decisions in the past, four or five years, where we cut some majors because they just weren't paying for themselves. And it was painful and caused a great outcry, but we just felt that majors that aren't paying for themselves ultimately we just can't afford to keep.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you so much.

SENATOR PEELER: Representative Finlay. Speaker Lucas.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Yes, sir. Thank you, Mr. President. Oran, how are you?

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir, all right.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Oran, you made the statement that 43 percent of the students coming from out of state, they are paying the full ride, which is the full out of state tuition?

MR. SMITH: Right.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: One of the problems that I've noticed and we've noticed in a lot of our colleges and universities across the state is the full ride that you are charging is still less than the in state tuition, say, that they would be paying in New Jersey, and I will use Rutgers as an example of that. We get students who come down to school in South Carolina, and it's cheaper for them to come here and pay the out of state tuition than stay and pay the in state tuition. Y'all having so large a number of students coming from out of state, have you been able to track that to ensure that the students who are truly coming to Coastal Carolina are actually paying more than they would than if they stayed in their original home state?

MR. SMITH: I'm both glad and not so glad that you asked that question. I'm glad because Coastal Carolina's out of state rate is 27.3, 27.4 and our in state rate is 12, 11.6, but we are keeping a constant eye, and Rutgers is one of them, but we're keeping a constant eye on those northeastern state universities and what their tuition is, because at the point that we're not competitive anymore, it harms our business model. It just won't work anymore if they can go to school at home more

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

cheaply. So I don't think -- unless those universities in the northeast are forced to increase their tuition, I don't know that we have a lot more wiggle room left, frankly. I think it's something that we're watching very carefully, because we definitely do not want to be noncompetitive and then lose the out of state students that kind of make our model work, yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Finlay.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Thank you. You know, there's sort of three various interesting data which I did not understand until I visited Coastal. First, with the component of the investment in that campus that is subsidized by the county, it makes them a very different animal than most of our other schools. And so I went down asking the question about in state versus out of state, and the president at that time basically -- the way he thought about it is that county had made an investment in making sure that they go forward to have a higher percentage of in state, out of state, by using bond money to build the buildings. I'd never thought about it like that, but that was their competitive advantage. The second comment that I heard was from a gentleman who used to work in the House, who is now at a college on the coast, that the real issue becomes for a lot of people that when it's not whether they're the same price, it's when they get out of a percentage above those in state universities. An example he used was 30 years ago the University of Maryland versus this college, it was \$4,000.00 more expensive to go to this university out of state than the University of Maryland. It's now 20. So parents making those decisions out of state all of a sudden had pause. So I'm glad that you have recognized that that pause is going on, because the third point is, a lot of universities up north have decided to pause the growth of in state tuition. So when they freeze their in state tuition that is going to trickle back very quickly to y'all, because that percentage when it goes from \$4,000.00 a year to \$20,000.00 a year to send little Katie down from New Jersey to Coastal or the College of Charleston, that math changes very quickly. So I'm glad y'all are on top of it, and I think the Speaker did a good job of starting the debate or the dialogue, but that is going to be something that becomes ever more important for y'all to watch, because y'all will price yourself out of the market.

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir. And the other state that we're watching like a hawk is North Carolina. They are offering incredible deals to stay in state. And we're -- some of those students that come over the border, we've got to keep them coming over the border, but North Carolina and Georgia both, they are stiff competition, because they want to keep their

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

in state people in state. And we're keeping an eye on them and hope that we can remain competitive.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Yeah, one quick question. So I'll go back to something we started talking about years ago, using diversity and also using -- creating another model to start keeping our best and brightest at home, too. This is not a pattern that these other states started doing. They've been doing it for quite some time, but we just kind of overlooked it and got too used to getting out of state students to balance the budget and continue to grow these institutions to a point that we really can't afford to operate without those students. I want to bring your attention to chart number 6, which I think we'll talk a little bit about this case of out of state, in state staying in tuition as a percentage of state median household income. Are you saying for Coastal it has maintained the same median household income, I guess, for the last nine years?

MR. SMITH: Yes, sir. This is from an independent website --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. SMITH: -- called how colleges spend money, and I simply downloaded the portions for South Carolina universities, and I'm not sure of the numbers in between 2010, '11 and '18, '19, but when they're compared one to one, we and College of Charleston, for some reason, are roughly almost exactly the same percentage of median household income. And the reason I supplied this to you is, again, we don't want to price ourselves out of what an average household --

SENATOR SCOTT: So when I look at a college that has lost in the trend of minus four percent household income, that means that either in the area which the normal recruiting has been taking place those folk either have relocated or just no longer come to that school. So it creates a tremendous factor on the school. That's why I asked you about Pell grants and others. Where you had 30 percent, that school is at 80 percent, and so it doesn't have the household income to be able to pay it for these kids, actually being able to get money to go to school.

MR. SMITH: Right. One thing about that chart that I should have noted is, for instance, South Carolina State went from roughly 22 percent down to 21 percent. So over time, South Carolina State has a slightly lower -- the tuition is a slightly, very slightly, lower percentage of the average personal income. So that university sort of stands alone as the only one that's --

SENATOR SCOTT: What -- based upon the tuition that it charges and a median household income that is paying, then you had more students

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

who went on Pell grant than students who could actually pay to go to school, because the household income just wasn't there.

MR. SMITH: Right, yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Anyone else? What is the desire of the committee.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Move favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: Favorable.

SENATOR VERDIN: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Seconded. Any discussion. Hearing none, we will take the vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you so much, sir.

MR. SMITH: Thank you, sir. Thank you for your time.

SENATOR PEELER: Still with Coastal Carolina University, 4th Congressional District Seat 4, Brad Poston. And so for the record, if you would, give us your full name.

MR. POSTON: Sure. Bradley James Poston.

SENATOR PEELER: Swear you in. BRADLEY JAMES POSTON, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. POSTON: Just to thank you guys for allowing me the opportunity to be here.

SENATOR PEELER: I love a brief statement. Thank you.

MR. POSTON: I'll be plenty brief. I don't have near the knowledge of the last two.

SENATOR PEELER: You've done your homework. Questions. Comments? Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Just one question. I think it said that you visited the campus often. How would you define --

MR. POSTON: How would I define the campus.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Well, no. How would you define how often is often from your standpoint?

MR. POSTON: So I just moved to the upstate about four years ago. Prior to that, I lived in Myrtle Beach for -- since the time I graduated from Coastal. So I'd say, pre Covid we went back three times a year, usually in the fall and the last year or so not as much, less.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Representative Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: No, I didn't have anything.

SENATOR PEELER: Okay. Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Mr. Poston, why do you want to serve?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. POSTON: Well, I have a passion for the university. I think it's a unique opportunity, something I kind of considered earlier in my life, and once the opportunity presented itself I thought about it, and it's just a unique opportunity. It's something that many of my colleagues where I work don't really have much experience in governmental type things, and that's the main reason. I just -- I love the university. It's allowed me to be here today.

SENATOR SCOTT: What do you think that you can do? What do you think you'd bring to the table and a board that's diverse as Coastal, and you just said the person before you with all the experience -- what experience do you actually bring?

MR. POSTON: I am a CPA --

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. POSTON: -- I think I'll be able to help in the financial aspect of the board's jobs. And to be honest with you, I don't necessarily know everything that I'm going to be faced or challenged with, so I don't know that I can answer what I can help with, because I don't know necessarily what I'm going to be faced with. I do think I will be able to help in various aspects. I played sports at the university. You know, when I first arrived at Coastal it was a much smaller university than it is now, and the whole area around it for that matter, so I do think I've kind of seen how things have progressed over the last couple of decades, and I -- you know, I think that the insight will be valuable going forward.

SENATOR SCOTT: Are you related to Roger?

MR. POSTON: I don't believe so, but I have a lot of kin that I'm not so sure. It's possible.

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, he's okay. You can claim him. He's not a bad fellow.

MR. POSTON: Okay. I'll claim him then. You can't have enough good ones.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Speaker Lucas.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Mr. Poston, good afternoon.

MR. POSTON: Good afternoon.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Thank you for being here today. You're a CPA; did I hear that correctly?

MR. POSTON: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Price Waterhouse?

MR. POSTON: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: I couldn't help but note a comment by Mr. Smith before you talked about, you know, cutting certain majors at

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

a school. Having a background as a CPA, how do you feel about going in and looking at the program and majors that can't produce the type of graduate that could, say, go in and go out in the work force and get a job sufficient enough to pay back a student loan? I know many of the colleges are looking at where the trend was many years ago when you could get as many people in school as possible. Now it's sort of a trend that we need to look and see if certain majors are not only beneficial but can, in fact, you know, sustain a loan to pay back after the student has gotten out of school. How do you feel about that, being a CPA?

MR. POSTON: I mean, I see the point. I --

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Would you be willing to go in and make a hard decision to cut a major?

MR. POSTON: With all of the facts present, yes. Currently, I can't say that I would be happy to do so or would do so or would not do so, because I don't necessarily know everything that comes with making that decision. I'm sure I'll learn that quite quickly, but in terms of analyzing the financial data, I think I could do that, and that's pretty black and white without taking anything else into account. I think I'll be able to help with that type of --

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: You should definitely have that ability. That would be a good -- yeah.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? I notice you're a former district manager for Waffle House.

MR. POSTON: Yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: What was your responsibility? Would you ever have to cook?

MR. POSTON: Oh, yeah. All Waffle House management starts as a cook. All managers have to cook.

SENATOR PEELER: I've told my children that has to be the toughest job being an HR manager at Waffle House.

MR. POSTON: Actually the HR people kind of stay out of the restaurants. The operations managers is the -- it's a tough career.

SENATOR PEELER: You played ball at Carolina, Coastal Carolina?

MR. POSTON: Coastal Carolina, yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: What did you play?

MR. POSTON: I played right tackle mostly, offensive line.

SENATOR PEELER: Did you have a mullet back then?

MR. POSTON: For a brief time before it started fading on me, and I had a mohawk, too. That's not happening these days.

SENATOR PEELER: Any other questions or comments. What's the desire?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR VERDIN: Favorable.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: The motion is favorable. There being no more discussion, we'll take it to a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you for your willingness to serve.

MR. POSTON: Thank you for your time.

SENATOR PEELER: Now Sixth Congressional District, Seat 6, Coastal Carolina University, John Bartell. Good afternoon, sir.

MR. BARTELL: Good afternoon.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, if you would, give us your full name.

MR. BARTELL: John H. Bartell, Jr.

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in. JOHN H. BARTELL, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. BARTELL: I have been on the board for four years, and I have thoroughly enjoyed my time on the board, and I look forward to continuing.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions or comments? Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Tell me about your experience on the board for the last four years. What were you able to achieve? What did you see that Coastal needed to do to improve? Just kind of your overview of Coastal and things like the previous members running for the board or back to the board talked about.

MR. BARTELL: Well, the tuition is always a big thing when it comes to college, and we have managed the last two years to hold out the tuition at the same level that it started at. And we're trying to recruit more Afro American students, in state students and Spanish students to grow our enrollment. And right now we're at 18 percent Afro American, 66 percent Caucasian and six percent Spanish and the other ten percent are Native American, Asians and one that didn't fill out anything on their application.

SENATOR SCOTT: What do you think about the growth? Do you think y'all are big enough, or you think you need to grow some more? Do you think you need to concentrate more on what's going on in South Carolina compared to these other states?

MR. BARTELL: Well, I think we should grow more. We're down to just under 10,000 now, and for the last three years that I've been on the board we were around 10,500 or 10,600. We've lost a little bit. Of course, the Covid had a lot to do with that. And I think with Coastal

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

giving the opportunity for any in state student that is eligible for college, Coastal will accept them, which I think is a great thing.

SENATOR SCOTT: Now you said you think you should grow. You mean you want to grow back to the 10,000, or do you want to get to be a much larger school?

MR. BARTELL: I would like to get up -- I think we should be much larger.

SENATOR SCOTT: So if that happens, and we continue to see the trend like the other senator from Richland -- other House member from Richland talked about -- what's going on across this country, especially you being adjacent to North Carolina, right on the oceanfront, because that's going up the coast, and all of a sudden these kids aren't coming over here, how do we balance our budget when we're slow in recruiting students coming in, out of state students slow down, and you're not getting enough in state students, I mean to say, at what point do you balance all that out?

MR. BARTELL: Well, most of our out of state students are from Maryland, surprisingly.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. BARTELL: You have to have a -- you also have to have a number of out of state students, and the tuition they pay has to be in line with what they can't get an education for in their own home state. And ours right now is in the neighborhood of 27.4 for out of state students. And our in state students are around 11.9 now.

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, in knowing the particulars, I just want to make sure you pay close attention as a board member any event, the Covid pandemic or because of economics, just in case this trend were to stop, and to spend a little bit more attention on trying to recruit more in state students if you're going to grow.

MR. BARTELL: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: At least that's a group you can keep. How do you feel the diversity at your school?

MR. BARTELL: I think we have a better opportunity to see more diversity in our school with the percent of Afro American students and Spanish students, but right now, like I say, we're sitting at about 18 percent Afro American and six percent. And I'm not saying that couldn't grow, and I think it should grow.

SENATOR SCOTT: We hope you are able to continue to recruit African Americans, not Afro, but African American student, and they'll have an interest in coming to Coastal to get a good education. Also, normally when you recruit those students, whatever schools you come from, it

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

becomes just a pattern, trend, based on the relationships and how students would come. Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Two brief questions, if I could. One is, your attendance as a board member, how would you describe that? Have you had 100 percent, 90 percent, since being on the board?

MR. BARTELL: When I first went on the board I had to have open heart surgery in July.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay.

MR. BARTELL: So I missed the first July, August and November. Then I've had 100 percent attendance.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, sir. The other thing you say here says, as the board member setting policy and approve decisions made by the president. So you setting policy is the role of the board and not going into different departments and not trying to run the university. Is that --

MR. BARTELL: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: -- my understanding of what you're saying, or do you need to elaborate?

MR. BARTELL: That's my thought on it, yes, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Representative Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And welcome, Mr. Bartell.

MR. BARTELL: Thank you.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: I see that most of your adult life has been in law enforcement, and thank you for your service to our state. This has bothered me a good bit. You know, every time I wake up in the morning, it seems like there's some issue here in Columbia with students being attacked, some even being murdered. Since Coastal is right there at the beach, and you have so many people coming in and out, do you feel like your campus is safe, and if not, would you recommend anything to provide a safer environment for your students?

MR. BARTELL: I think our campus is safe. We get a lot bad press, sometimes in the Sun News and maybe the News and Courier saying at the university apartments such and such happened, and actually the university apartments are not on campus. They're elsewhere, but we have a great police department, and that's one battle we kind of -- we are up against when we had -- through the rift and all, wanted the program, which I was totally against, but like you say, I'm a 40 year veteran of law enforcement, and when you send -- when families their children to

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

any university, they want to be sure they have a safe environment. And that's imperative anywhere and especially at Coastal.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: All right. Well, just like here in Columbia, it's such a large city, and a lot of the incidents that happen with students here seem like they are off campus, whether at Five Points or some of the apartments that aren't part of the university system. I imagine that's an issue that, you know, a lot of the schools face. Clemson faces it also up where I live, so I thank you for your service in law enforcement, and I hope you'll keep an eye on that.

MR. BARTELL: Thank you sir. I appreciate it.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? Representative Lucas.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Mr. Bartell, thank you for being here today. Did I note that you are a Clemson grad?

MR. BARTELL: No, sir. I attended Clemson University. I didn't graduate. I lacked three credits from being a junior, and I was born and raised on -- I'll explain why I didn't graduate if you'd like to know.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: No, sir. I just noted that degree --

MR. BARTELL: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: And I know around the university there probably isn't much need for agronomy, but as you go up into Loris and all those great areas in Aynor, we do grow a lot of South Carolina's greatest products. So I would hope that you would look at agronomy education at Coastal also, because there is a need for that in Horry County.

MR. BARTELL: Yes, sir. And we just last year implemented and put in a degree in criminal justice, which a lot of people were looking for at Coastal.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Thank you, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, Senator Senn vouches for you.

MR. BARTELL: Thank you, sir. We are great friends.

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: The motion is favorable. Any other discussion? If not, we'll take it to a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Thank you, sir.

MR. BARTELL: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Next at large, Seat 8, Jason Repak. Good afternoon, sir.

MR. REPAK: Good afternoon.

SENATOR PEELER: On the record, if you would give us your full name.

MR. REPAK: Jason Michael Repak.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR PEELER: I'm going to swear you in. JASON MICHAEL REPAK, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. REPAK: Yes. Thank you so much for having me out. You know, I've only been on the board now a year filling an unfilled term, but it's been the highlight of a long history of service I've had at Coastal. And then also, I apologize for my tardiness before the session started. I had to make a stop in Florence to my daughter's orthopedist. She broke her arm a couple of weeks ago.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions, comments? Senator Verdin?

SENATOR VERDIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Repak, what -- do you know what the percentage of in- classroom rather than virtual education has taken place today?

MR. REPAK: Today at Coastal?

SENATOR VERDIN: Yes, sir.

MR. REPAK: So, I believe we put in place to want every class to have an in-person requirement for our faculty, for our teaching faculty, unless there were an actual health concern to the faculty member and then they were allowed to stay in place through a virtual education system, you know, through all of our different online modes of delivery now. I don't know the number -- the percentage, but I can get it back to you that -- more students that are actually taking advantage of that. I have talked to a number of the faculty that said, even when they did start their in-person classes, at first, they were still having a lot of their students take those classes online just out of convenience.

SENATOR VERDIN: Well, and that -- we've discussed, certainly, in financial terms of recruiting student body in the years to come, what we should anticipate and I would -- and I should've predicated my question with the fact that health is of -- health concerns are of paramount importance. But I do think that the administrations and the boards are going to have to very closely monitor this question as it relates to all those matters of student recruitment and retention. You know, a lot of traditional education has changed and is changing more rapidly than even we can sometimes quantify or measure. But I think this is one critical key component of the traditional classical means and methods of educating. Every time we talk about the future and how radically different and changed things can be, I personally have lived long enough and I'm -- haven't served in your capacity, but I think all of us, as interested in public policy, especially the future -- the pendulum -- I'm never seen a pendulum not come back and find its place or water find its

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

level. And I've got -- and I'm measuring this against a couple of soon-to-be-in-laws that I'm adding to my family this year, both of them in graduate school. And it's a little different there with that type of -- it's more intimate in their particular degree programs, but just how it's affecting students psychologically, their plans for the future, their first desire to be in- classroom. If they're not, they're going back home. Just those factors. So, yeah, I am interested -- I've probably asked it of all universities here going forward, not necessarily in the context of this screening, but I do appreciate you relating it back to me for Coastal.

MR. REPAK: Yes, sir, it's my pleasure. And I will tell you I agree wholeheartedly. I think you're going to see some pretty significant transformation in educational delivery, specifically higher education delivery, but even through your grade school system. Because of this pandemic, so many dollars have had to be invested in creating new modes of delivery for education that the reality is that, now that they're there, even though my personal preference would be to have all in-person classes, say, for health concerns, now that the infrastructure is there, we're all going to have to take a good hard look at what is the best way to deliver our education to our students, both economically and effectively.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Repak, for your willingness to serve. I was just looking at your resume. How do you go from selling Silver Spurs and Corniches, to doing building and construction? That's a tremendous leap. And the reason I'm saying that is because I do real estate and construction and now, I'm building cars, too. So, tell me -- tell me about that experience. That should've --

MR. REPAK: Sure.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- been some kind of experience.

MR. REPAK: Yes, sir. So, I think you're referring to my time with Rolls-Royce?

SENATOR SCOTT: Yeah.

MR. REPAK: Yeah. So, well, I worked for the Rolls Royce that was a jet manufacturer. So, the --

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. REPAK: -- the company went bankrupt back in the '70s and violated their financial statements that may not be in great shape going forward either. But they went bankrupt back in the '70s and they sold the car business off to raise capital to BMW. I worked for Rolls-Royce, the remaining company, which is primarily defense and civil applications of jet engines.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: Out of Indianapolis, I think.

MR. REPAK: Big plant in Indianapolis, and so --

SENATOR SCOTT: Uh-huh.

MR. REPAK: -- a lot of people don't realize this, but the -- the vice president of finance of that Indianapolis plant for about 15 years, and one that saved the current -- at that time -- the CEO's job, because of cash delivery back from Indianapolis to the parent, was a Coastal Carolina graduate.

SENATOR SCOTT: Oh.

MR. REPAK: He grew up in Loris and went on to work several different areas and became the vice president of finance at that factory and took it from a \$100 million loan that they borrowed from the parent to a billion-dollar cash return within about four years because of how he changed the financial effectiveness and in some of the weirdest ways, too. He -- one of his first projects, he tore down a million square feet of the factory.

SENATOR SCOTT: Tore it down.

MR. REPAK: Didn't need it. And so, he spent money putting a new computer on ever desk and saved the company money in the ninth month. It just -- it was incredible. So, anyway, he gave back to Coastal and is still passionate about getting back to Coastal today. He serves as a chairman of one of our honor program boards there. And he recruited me out of school and I went to work for them for about seven years, I believe. I got my graduate degree from University of Richmond, and we've been in buildings and real estate for years, and that's where I'm at now. And so, when I grew up in Horry County, in Socastee, we all grew up in the same neighborhood that we developed and so I wanted my children to experience that same -- that same experience of growing up around family, so we moved back.

SENATOR SCOTT: So, I'm pretty sure, with a broad array of experience from the corporate side and the financial side, in time to come, a lot of experience on Coastal, you'll be able to make some things happen. Tell me about -- a little bit about your thought pattern of trying to keep more South Carolina students in at Coastal and also getting more African-American students to come to Coastal.

MR. REPAK: Yeah, absolutely. So, I'm thrilled for the change to see that we are trending more towards in-state students. Obviously, we love our out-of-state students, both as enrollment and students at our university, and want nothing but success for them. But for any state, for me, I look at economic development opportunity in the state and what is the future of the state's economy and our, more importantly, for Horry

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

County, what does our area's financial future look like. And so, attracting in-state students, ones that are going to come and stay --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. REPAK: -- is very, very important. So, to see that shift from about 50/50, which was just a few years ago --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. REPAK: -- to where it is now -- it's closer to 60 percent -- is a very, very favorable shift, in my opinion, and I'd like to see that get even a little better into the 70/30 territory just because that gives our workforce, our state workforce in South Carolina, the ability to compete. Because, ultimately, when new companies are looking for a place to park their new factories or their new distribution centers, they're looking for infrastructure and ability to deliver, they're looking for infrastructure and education for workforce development, and they're looking for people. And we've got them by the thousands of -- roughly, the number is about a thousand families moving to Horry County every month. And so, I'd love to see that number continue to rise and I would love to see our diversity numbers come up as well. I think, overall, if you look at -- there's a website, College Factual, that ranks -- has a diversity score ranking across all twenty-four hundred institutions that it's -- that it monitors in the U.S., and they have us at about their top ten percent for diversity ranking. But that doesn't mean the work's done.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. REPAK: I'd love to see our diversity numbers continue to increase.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Finlay.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: So, you really think that for universities, especially state universities, it is exceedingly important that they attempt to achieve at least two-thirds, one-third in-state versus out-of-state?

MR. REPAK: I think, to help and deliver -- to help to deliver education to the students is, obviously, job one, right. But the state's interest in those universities is for the economic future of the state, because the state is spending public monies to invest in those universities and to create a future workforce. And so, for me, I think it's important for us to have a workforce that are being educated at the institutions that will stay there in the state when they're done.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: I think that Senator Scott and I and some others might agree how important that is, because I think it's two things. Number one, the state is investing the resources of the citizens and it would be nice for them to get a return. And I think, number two,

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

that as the state draws -- or its universities draw more students from the state, naturally, it becomes more representative of the state. I think that is an important factor that it's one I'm glad to hear you represent -- I mean, recognize and continue to work for, although I continue to applaud Horry County their willingness to invest in education and producing buildings and helping subsidize -- because, just like we want for the state, they are doing it for their city and I take away from it that it is an investment, they think, in their future in producing a workforce for our growing communities and I think it's a wonderful idea.

MR. REPAK: Thank you so much. I agree wholeheartedly and just hope that when it comes to -- for renewal -- I believe it's two or three years that we're up for renewal -- that citizens of Horry County still feel that way, because I certainly do. I think it's a huge investment in our future, especially when you consider the population growth we're having. I mean, we're forecasted -- I'll tell you that my personal belief is that the forecast is wrong. It is far undershooting the number. They're forecasting our metropolitan area to grow from about 300,000 to about 640,000 by 2040. I think it'll be closer to mid-2030s by the time it happens, especially if you see the rate that people are moving to the area now. And not all of them that are coming are what we'll call a more mature retiree. A lot of those are 40s, 50-year-old civil servants retiring out of the northeast and they're bringing their family and their family's going to have to have a place to work and a place to go to school.

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

SENATOR PEELER: Motion is favorable report. Seconded?

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Anybody have a discussion? If none, we'll take a vote on it. In favor, raise your right hand. Appreciate your willingness to serve.

MR. REPAK: Thank you so much.

SENATOR PEELER: At large, Seat 10, Mark Kelley. Good afternoon, sir. For our record, if you would, give us your full name.

MR. KELLEY: Good afternoon, Mr. President. Mark Stephan Kelley. MARK STEPHAN KELLEY, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. KELLEY: I am ready, willing and able if y'all will allow me to serve on the board of Coastal Carolina. I think I bring some things to the board that other people don't have; my experience -- my 26 years experience working and being up here, as long as my 16 years of

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

representing Coastal Carolina University. With that, I'll be glad to answer any questions.

SENATOR PEELER: How much does that penny bring in off the top of your head, now?

MR. KELLEY: It depends, it fluctuates, depending on, certainly, last year, because of COVID; and that is down some. But it's -- I could get those numbers for you. I don't know them off the bat.

SENATOR PEELER: I know you've been following it for a long time. I thought you'd --

MR. KELLEY: Yeah. I should -- well, I've been retired for a couple of years, but I'll get that for you.

SENATOR PEELER: Just curious. Questions? Senator Alexander?

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. Good to see you today.

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Senator.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you for your willingness to serve. You say ways to improve university's retention and graduation rate. What is that current landscape and what do you -- how would you have the retention and what -- of those students, and what is that --

MR. KELLEY: I think -- I think it's -- if you got students that are 1400 SAT students, anybody and everybody can educate those. I think, when you get down to the 900s and that, those students need -- a lot of those students need some help to bring them along to get them from the time that they enter till the time that they leave the institution. And I think we could do a better -- we do some of that and we do -- but I think we can do a better job at retaining those students, not losing them in the first year, and being able to bring up through to be able to see them graduate in four years, five years. Thank you.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you.

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Mr. President.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Scott?

SENATOR SCOTT: Good to see you, my friend.

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Senator.

SENATOR SCOTT: Do you know what's the average SAT that Coastal requires since you --

MR. KELLEY: The minimum SAT, I don't have that. It's nine-something, I believe. I'm not sure.

SENATOR SCOTT: So, how many -- how many lottery -- lottery students would normally be taken in over there annually? Do you have any idea? Because that would give us some kind of range to how well we're doing on SAT scores, too.

MR. KELLEY: Yeah. I don't have those numbers --

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. KELLEY: -- off the bat.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. Tell me a little bit -- your thought pattern on diversity and also trying to -- deciding to open the state and trying to get South Carolina students to come. And I know a number of kids who recently -- at least a couple of them from my church are going to Coastal now.

MR. KELLEY: I think -- in fact, one thing I do know is I think right now, we're graduating more African-American students than we are white male students at Coastal Carolina.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. KELLEY: So, I think it's diverse and that all areas of education need to be looked at, all different races need to be looked at, and what can we do as a better -- as a board to set policy in that to do things better to see that these people stay in school and get through college. We have grown our African-American population at Coastal. I think we've got some awards for that. I think, you know, we have to balance being fiscally responsible with the ability to pay, and I think that -- by bringing some students in that maybe are below the line that we have right now, but could get through to make it to graduation in four or five years, I think we owe it to those in-state students to do a little better job maybe in trying to get them into the school and retain them in the school.

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, you guys got some scholarship money? Are you raising money annually for those kids --

MR. KELLEY: They have. The president has some discretionary funds that they use, yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Welcome, Mr. Kelley.

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Representative.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: I see you mention Coastal's biggest weakness is declining enrollment. Do you have any numbers on that?

MR. KELLEY: I think -- I don't have numbers, but I think, nationally, it's a problem that we're looking at throughout with online tuition or online educations around this country with the cost of education in the country. I think it's a problem that all institutions are facing right now. I think Coastal has somewhat of an advantage in that we have local support, we have state support. And I think if we keep, you know, a bit high on the fiscal responsibilities of the school, I think we can weather this. I think we'll improve -- as you heard, the population in our area is

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

growing. As that population grows, those children come up through our system and, I think, will end up in our school. So, I think we will increase, but I think we -- again, I say everybody can educate a 1400 SAT student.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: What is Coastal's enrollment now; do you know?

MR. KELLEY: Right at -- I think, right at 10,000.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Okay. Has that kind of been the norm the last few years?

MR. KELLEY: Yeah. It's slipped a little bit. I mean, I think we're up close to 11,000. It depends how you measure those by FTEs and by head counts and that, so it changes. But, you know, I think that's the level that we're at now. I think that probably somewhere around 12 might be a good number, good settling-in point for Coastal, at lease, in this year.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: And, by the way, congratulations on Coastal's football success last year. That was quite a run you guys had.

MR. KELLEY: Thank you. It was great exposure for the campus and for the State of South Carolina.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Is Coastal going to get to play USC this year? I just wonder.

MR. KELLEY: Well, you know, we were supposed to play them last year, but --

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: That's what I thought. I thought they might want to make that game up. I just didn't know.

MR. KELLEY: Well, Coastal does.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: That's my fear.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: They'd chicken out. No pun intended. Mr. Finlay?

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: No, sir. I think USC might be willing to swap Coastal out for Clemson right now. And by the way, I just want to make an editorial comment. Fourteen hundred SAT students may be easier to teach, but they are just as stubborn. Do not be confused.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? What's the desire of the committee?

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Favorable.

SENATOR SCOTT: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Favorable and seconded. Any other discussion? All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you, sir.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. KELLEY: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Next, at large seat 10, Robert O'Brien. For the record, sir, if you would give us your full name, sir.

MR. O'BRIEN: Sure. Robert Louis O'Brien.

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in. ROBERT LOUIS O'BRIEN, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Do you have a statement?

MR. O'BRIEN: I just appreciate the opportunity to run for a seat on the board because living down in Myrtle Beach, I know a number of people that have no idea how this process works, and it's all new to me, too. So, I'm looking forward to the opportunity.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions or comments? Mr. Scott?

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. O'Brien, for your willingness to serve. I see you have a heck of an employment record, RES, CID special agent, tell me about how we can transfer some of that experience that you have even to curriculum specifics or some things you think you can begin to make some changes at Coastal; and also, a wide variety of different schools, Wofford, Maryland, xin xEurope, City College of Chicago, about this college at Charleston, a lot of different experiences with colleges and universities and a lot of different experience as is relates to employment history.

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: So, tell me how we take those experiences and looking at some of the -- well, you've had the opportunity to hear some of the questions this morning.

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes.

SENATOR SCOTT: So, kind of fill in the blanks where you think that those experiences can become --

MR. O'BRIEN: Well, I went to Summerville High School, so I started there and then I went into the military; and that's when I got the opportunity to see some different schools --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- when I went to school there; and then came back on scholarship at Wofford.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: Moved -- and I was married and had a young daughter --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. O'BRIEN: -- and came back there. And my experience at Wofford getting an accounting degree taught me a lot and -- but I wanted to have a degree that I could use, not necessarily to be a CPA, but --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- I wanted to understand how money moved and how to read these voluminous reports --

SENATOR SCOTT: Certainly.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- and see where things are going. And that experience over the years, I've had a number of white-collar crime and healthcare fraud and different types of investigations I've been a part of. And then, I eventually went into forensics, having to be involved in the undercover operation where the state lost all their tax returns --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- on the dark web.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: I actually was part of that when we reported it to SLED when it happened back in -- back in the day. And computer forensics has always been a big interest. But CCU, I've gotten the opportunity, because I've lived there so long, now, and my daughter went to school there, my son went to the scholars academy there, which is a joint program --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- with CCU where they take the kids from the high school area and allow them to take college courses at the campus. So, I was on campus all the time, especially since we couldn't drive when we first started.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: So, just being able to understand the fiduciary responsibilities, I see a board as being, you know, critical that people that are there and have been a part of the university and understand how that money flows and that responsibility the board has not to just be a rubber stamp to budgets and taking care of that money --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- but also providing a -- I mean, CCU is one of the biggest and best resources that that area has. I mean, the university is great and they're right there with HGTC and it's just a great, great place.

SENATOR SCOTT: So, in terms of your experience, cyber security, any form of computer fraud --

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- and looking at the -- looking at some of the curriculum, could need to improve some of the curriculum, tell me a little

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

bit about your thoughts on a more diverse school and some of the things you think the board needs to be moving in that direction, policy-wise, with the president. See, you got a new president. Now, you're going to have --

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- a bunch of new board members, too, in trying to meet the challenges we're facing, because it's going to happen as this pandemic -- which I think will be a long time before it just goes all away. We're going to see more and more of our students have to stay at home as it relates to just being able to afford a college education. So, just give me your thoughts on what you --

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- think we need to be doing and how we --

MR. O'BRIEN: Well, from the diversity standpoint, CCU's done a great job in the diversity area. I mean, there's always room for improvement. And the one area that probably, diversity-wise, that they're weakest at is probably in the Hispanic population.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. O'BRIEN: The African-American population there has done a great job and it's a very popular school there for the African-American population. And we did the Adrian project there where we recruited -- we did it in Orangeburg, too, at South Carolina State where we do this thing where you get to be a special agent for two days and you learn what the job is. And it was a very popular there. But to address your question, those three offices that are already there at Coastal are doing a great job and the board is supportive of that; and I would continue to support that as well. But there is room for improvement, like I said, in the Hispanic area. We have a large Hispanic population that is very under-represented at CCU probably right now.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay. So, you're comfortable with 17, 18 and the overall population of the African- American community is 27. So, you're comfortable with -- comfortable number or are you comfortable because that's where the school is right now?

MR. O'BRIEN: Well, no, I would say I'm comfortable in that opportunities are available there --

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- for that population.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: And they're doing a great job in trying to --

SENATOR SCOTT: Move in a direction.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- increase that.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. O'BRIEN: I don't see, you know, within the Hispanic population, it's not nearly as well known --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. O'BRIEN: -- that the type of degree and opportunities that are available there, that's all. And it's just a -- something I noticed being on campus all the time, that that's the case.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Okay. Speaker Lucas?

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Yes. Thank you for being here today. Students who receive or having been receiving their education through online classes as opposed to face-to-face classes, do you think those students deserve some kind of discount for not being there full time?

MR. O'BRIEN: Well, my son's doing that right now and not a fan. He's a senior in high school at Myrtle Beach, so --

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: I'm not saying I'm disagreeing with you -- MR. O'BRIEN: But a discount --

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: -- I'm just looking for your response.

MR. O'BRIEN: Sure. Sure. It's difficult, because the fixed cost of the university is still going to be the same. You still have to have all those costs related. And sometimes, I think it's an informational thing as well. But to answer your question, maybe some discount, but maybe not nearly what some might believe it should be. But I think a lot of that's informational. If parents were aware of why the tuition has to be what it is, I mean, a lot of parents that I know are like, "Man, you know, we hit the lottery and tuition just keeps going up and up and up." You know, it seems to incrementally keep going up. And in talking to the parents of the kids that I know -- I coach softball at Socastee High School, too, and that's a constant thing that they talk about is, you know, "My kid's at home doing computer work and I'm still paying the same tuition that I had to pay when I sent him off to school." And so, I think there is some -- there needs to some give-back there, because the costs are low. I mean, these universities, though, weren't set up to be online universities and they had to do it on the fly. And so, the bills still come due. And the board has a responsibility, fiduciarily, to, I think, most importantly, give the parents and the people that are paying the bills that information, and as to why it's not a 50 percent discount, let's say, or whatever they think it might should be. You follow me?

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Yes, sir.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. O'BRIEN: I mean, that's my thought process on it. I think there should be, because it is less expensive to do, but when my son enrolled at CCU, he didn't enroll to be an online victim of circumstances of a -- of the pandemic required them to shift gears. I mean, I don't know how you balance the two, but I think there has to be some balance. I don't think you just put your head in the sand and just say, "Well, that's what the tuition is, and this is what we're going to do." I think, ultimately, that runs people away.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: I appreciate your answer. Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Finlay?

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: As the parent of two soon-to- be three students, I think there's part of the issue on the tuition is not just that the costs are lower. It's what the children are receiving is significantly less.

MR. O'BRIEN: Yeah.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: And I think universities have been very slow to acknowledge that the courses, the experience, the long-term takeaway has been significantly less. And to say, "Oh, you're sort of a victim of circumstance," is nice. But when faculty are receiving the same pay you sort of go, "Well, where the victim of circumstance there?" That is a lead-in to say that I think there are going to be a lot more victim of circumstances coming along, many of those financial. So, in other words, I don't think every school that has a certain program is going to be able to maintain them for the future. I think the economy as a scale, the internet, other things are going to start pushing those. Are you willing to make those hard decisions as it comes time to cut and push -- and push through to do what they need to do?

MR. O'BRIEN: Oh, absolutely. I mean, and I think that's the board's responsibility. I mean, Coastal has some great things going on with -- you mentioned athletics -- that they could capitalize on. It doesn't matter that -- and it doesn't seem to correlate, but Clemson wins the national championship and their admissions go up 200 percent. You know, Coastal has some -- they win a baseball national championship and I think the athletic football program last year, with all the success they had, you know, that's an area we can capitalize on. And I think the board should focus on to get that initial -- I mean, additional interest in the school. And, I mean, to me, CCU's got -- we got to keep building that reputation that's -- getting those 1400 SAT score kids that want to come to Coastal, you know. I think it's important and it's critical. And for the university to continue to grow and become more -- continue to be successful, they have to do those things.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. President, briefly; and good to have you here this afternoon. You mentioned a way to attract students and develop a cooperation ranging with MUSC or Grand Strand Hospital, kind of like a bridge program.

MR. O'BRIEN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Are you aware, does Coastal Carolina have any of those type of programs now in that arena or any other disciplines?

MR. O'BRIEN: Not specifically that I'm aware of. At Grand Strand, I know they've tied -- Grand Strand Regional Medical Center has started taking medical students and they're teaching there. I mention that because Horry Georgetown Tech does nursing programs and they're right adjacent to CCU. And the biggest reason I put it in there is my son, who's looking at colleges, and my brother-in-law both went to College of Charleston -- or, my son is looking at College of Charleston because of that relationship that MUSC has with College of Charleston.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: That's a great idea.

MR. O'BRIEN: It's critical. To me, I mean, having been there quite a bit to MUSC, he went on and became an anesthesiologist after going to C of C and went -- and used some of those programs in close proximity. They work together quite a bit. And he's now in Greenville as a pain anesthesiologist, pain specialist. And --

SENATOR ALEXANDER: I think that's a great suggestion. If I could, I just want to recognize for the record, too, is you talk about your membership in civic organizations, certified to represent the taxpayers before the Internal Revenue Service. I think that's -- with your background, that's an interesting association to be with. And then finally, to the -- you're a TurboTax expert part time, and then you're the official scorekeeper for the Pelicans and so what kind of season do they -- you looking for them to have?

MR. O'BRIEN: Well, we're hoping they get to come play. You know, Major League Baseball is taking over all the minor league baseball teams, so they're supposed to start in May, but I don't know if they actually will. But Myrtle Beach Pelicans have now become a low A affiliate and they've played Charleston and Columbia and -- where they used to be in the South -- they're not in the South Atlantic League. Before, they were in the Carolina League.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: And if I could finish up, Mr. President, with your different duties and part-time things, would there be any -- would there be any problem with you serving on the board and being available to attend all the meetings?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. O'BRIEN: Oh, not at all. No, that's one of the - - it's been the hardest thing about getting used to being retired, but I got to retire at a relatively young age because of the federal law enforcement, so --

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Well, we appreciate --

MR. O'BRIEN: -- it's been interesting.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We appreciate your service and what you do --

MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: -- and your willingness to serve in this capacity.

MR. O'BRIEN: Appreciate the opportunity. I just wish that you didn't have to, like, it wasn't a political thing where you have to run against somebody to be able to serve. So, thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Good point. We have excellent candidates. Hunter Renfrow, any contact with him?

MR. O'BRIEN: I coached his sister in softball and --

SENATOR PEELER: Is she as good as he is?

MR. O'BRIEN: -- I actually saw Hunter last week. He's at home -- he came home and watched some baseball. He's just been married and has a little baby and his dad's the athletic director where I coach softball -- or was the athletic director. Now, he's retired as well. But Hunter's a great young man.

SENATOR PEELER: He sure is.

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

SENATOR PEELER: Motion for favorable.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: I second it.

SENATOR PEELER: Seconded. Any other discussion? Hearing none, Those in favor, raise your right hand? Unanimous. Thank you, sir.

MR. O'BRIEN: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Now we move to at large Seat 12. Okay, Mr. Porterfield. Afternoon, sir.

MR. PORTERFIELD: Good afternoon.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, give us your full name, sir.

MR. PORTERFIELD: Brett Charles Porterfield.

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in. BRETT CHARLES PORTERFIELD, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. PORTERFIELD: Yeah, just a very brief statement. Good afternoon to the members of the General Assembly. My name is Brett

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Porterfield. I am a candidate for Seat 12 on the Board of Trustees at Coastal Carolina University. I consider it an honor and a privilege to potentially serve in this capacity. I am an alumnus of Coastal Carolina, having graduated in 2007. Having graduated, I've remained a financial supporter of the college and currently serve as a member on several alumni associations. Serving on the Board of Trustees is the highest form of service an alumnus can render to an institution. I thank the Commission for its consideration and I welcome any questions the Commission may have.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Questions or comment? Senator Alexander?

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you for your willingness to serve. Your present employer is who?

MR. PORTERFIELD: Blue Cross/Blue Shield, Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay. And would your ability, if elected to the Board, would there be any problem with having the ability to serve and go -- attend meetings?

MR. PORTERFIELD: No, sir, it wouldn't be any problems.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: And you say here, ways to improve Coastal Carolina is to improve its profile. Would you tell me what that means?

MR. PORTERFIELD: Well, yes, I noticed as we've been having these screenings today, there's been an increased intention in the profile of Coastal Carolina within the State of South Carolina. And I feel that South -- Coastal Carolina is working to be the third institution behind the University of South Carolina and Clemson. I feel that, right now, the school's reputation is that when you say Coastal Carolina, one of the first things you think of is athletics. We talked about the baseball team, we talked about the football team. And I feel that, along with those things, the academic aspect of the institution should also follow along. That way, that when you go to school, say, in the 864 or in the 803, you go to the schools in upstate and you market the institution, it has that academic weight behind it. You know, currently, here in the State of South Carolina, when you say you're an alumni of Clemson University or alumni of University of South Carolina, that holds weight. When you say you're an alumni of Coastal Carolina University, you should hold weight as well.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. Thank you, Mr. President.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? Mr. Scott?

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you for your willingness to serve. I see you're a member of Zion Pilgrim.

MR. PORTERFIELD: Yes, sir, I am.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: Good church, good church.

MR. PORTERFIELD: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: You seem to be very, very excited about this appointment. What do you think that you need to do for Coastal to be able to recruit more African-American students so the percentage looks like South Carolina --

MR. PORTERFIELD: Well, I think it's --

SENATOR SCOTT: -- and have a more diverse population. And there's a lot of good students out there --

MR. PORTERFIELD: Yes.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- too if we recruit them.

MR. PORTERFIELD: I agree. I agree that Coastal Carolina should do more in regards to increasing its diversity especially African-American males. Right now, they have a program called Call Me Mister, which trains African-American males to become teachers.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. PORTERFIELD: Programs such as that, I think, are of benefit to the institution as well. Also, I think Coastal Carolina should market directly to that particular demographic within the State of South Carolina. I feel that a diverse institution is representative of a diverse state. And I feel that Coastal Carolina should do more in regards to diversifying their student profile so that there are, when alumni graduate from the institution, they are prepared for a diverse workplace.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? Desire of the committee?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: Favorable and second. Any other discussion? We'll take it to a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you for your willingness to serve. Thank you, sir.

MR. PORTERFIELD: Thank you for your time this afternoon.

SENATOR PEELER: Next, Delan Stevens. Good afternoon, sir.

MR. STEVENS: Good afternoon.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, if you would, give us your full name.

MR. STEVENS: Hal Delan Stevens.

SENATOR PEELER: Please raise your hand. HAL DELAN STEVENS, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. STEVENS: Yes, sir. I'd just like to thank you for the time to be here and I'd just like to say it's been an honor and a privilege to serve the six years that I've been able to serve on the Board.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions or comments? Senator Alexander?

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. Good to see you today.

MR. STEVENS: Thank you, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. You talk here about the biggest strength -- I think it's interesting -- the biggest strength of the university is its economic impact.

MR. STEVENS: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Does that outweigh the academic success of the students?

MR. STEVENS: No, sir. But I think the economic impact has an impact on the students directly.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: And so, when you talk about the economic impact, are you talking about on just the Horry -- Greater Horry County area or are you talking about the economic impact of the students once they get out into the workforce?

MR. STEVENS: I'm talking about the economic impact that it has as far as preparing students to contribute.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay. Then you say the biggest weakness is the endowment. So, what kind of endowment --

MR. STEVENS: Well, like --

SENATOR ALEXANDER: -- is there, and have y'all done work? Is there a focus on endowment?

MR. STEVENS: Yes, sir, we're working on it. We're now approximately, I think -- when I did this, it was about 40 -- well, maybe about a \$60 million endowment. When you consider Clemson as probably a \$750 million endowment, and you look at what the economic numbers are for the University now, it is a vital source of continuing to provide income, to provide what students need. The most important thing I think for a university -- or at least to me -- is the safety and well-being of the students and the education they receive when they get there. And this is a daunting task to do it sometimes with the budgets that you have to do it with. So, I think, to increase the endowment to have a better fund -- a better source of income fund coming in would be a great, great help.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you for your answers.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Scott?

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, again, for your willingness to serve. Tell me a little bit about your strategy as a board member to make

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Coastal a more diverse institution to bring more African- American students to the campus along with faculty, too. The number of faculty numbers weren't that great either. So, as a board member, what plan would you recommend or what would you recommend to the board to be able to address those kinds of issues at Coastal?

MR. STEVENS: Yes, sir. We -- one of the things we haven't addressed and done is we have a lot of -- formed a diversity department, which I think Dr. Stokes-Brown has done a good job there. And I think it helps students, when they're looking at universities to attend --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. STEVENS: -- to know that we have addressed those issues and that that's something that has been done. I think another thing is sometimes, on your approach, as far as when you're trying to promote your school, I think you need to do direct promotion of what we can offer as far as our diversity, what we have, what's our strengths. And that -- sometimes, I think you market your school as an overall and you don't target some areas. So, I think that's very important, as we progress with our marketing, that we look at how do we -- exactly how do we promote our school to show people that we are.

SENATOR SCOTT: So, in looking at where Coastal was a 55/45 school, in terms of out-of-state students - - and it's just a matter of time it's going to happen with more states figuring out how to keep their students at home and always trying to take our students, what kind of plan do you think Coastal needs to do to prepare itself in the event the out-of-state shortage begins to stop. Now, you're in a specialized area of engineering, medical and those kinds of areas, you're going to always have kids transferring, veterinary sciences, you're going to have kids transferring. What do you think Coastal needs to do to protect itself -- and I see it's moving in that direction bringing those numbers down just in case that ends up happening faster than we can -- you know, that we anticipate?

MR. STEVENS: Yes, sir. Well, two things, first off, I would think our marine class department is probably one of the top in the country.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. STEVENS: So, I think, when you have something that is one of the best in the country, you really need to showcase that --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. STEVENS: -- students from all over, not just United States, but the country -- the world will say this is the best marine science department in the country.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. STEVENS: And you need to highlight that. And our Wall School of Business is also one of the best. So, sometimes, I think you need to highlight what is your strengths --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. STEVENS: -- and promote that to your out-of-state students.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Any other questions or comments? What's the desire of the committee?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Favor and seconded. Any other discussion? Hearing none? Raise your right hands. It's unanimous. Thank you, sir.

MR. STEVENS: Thank you all.

SENATOR PEELER: Appreciate your willingness to continue to serve.

MR. STEVENS: Thank you very much for your time.

SENATOR PEELER: At large Seat 14, Joe Jarrett. For the record, if you would give us your full name, sir.

MR. JARRETT: Joe Nelson Jarrett, Jr.

SENATOR PEELER: I'll swear you in. JOE NELSON JARRETT, JR., having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. JARRETT: I would. I would like to thank all of the commission for the work they do for the colleges and the universities of our state and I would also like to thank the staff of Senator Peeler's office, who have been so kind and helpful, Julie Price and Martha Casto.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions or comments for Mr. Jarrett. Speaker Lucas?

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Thank you, and thank you for your time today for coming in. There has been a question that was raised to the prior candidate, and I want to raise it to you and give you a chance to comment, because I had wondered about it through all of the candidates who have come through. The endowment at Coastal is extremely low in comparison to many other public schools. What do you think causes that and do you believe one of the root causes of that is the percentage of out-of-state students we allow to come to Coastal Carolina?

MR. JARRETT: I really don't know the answer to your question other than to say that our endowment, I think, is \$45 million right now, which is low. And to put that on the back of out-of-state students, I wouldn't consider that to be the case. We're fairly new in terms of having an endowment. We're relatively new, as a university, on our own. It takes

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

time to get those monies up to get people to donate after they've finished college. Most of the time, by the time you can make a significant gift to the college, you would be in your 40s, 50s or 60s. We're probably going to have to wait a little longer and continue trying to improve our endowment. We do need to pay a lot of attention to our philanthropic department which helps in raising these funds.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: And that was one of the points you raised and I wanted to give you a chance to comment; so, thank you.

MR. JARRETT: Yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Finlay, did you have a question?

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Yes, sir. I was just going to -- thank you. I was going to make a point. I don't know that -- if I understand correctly, Coastal was rolled out of the USC system in '93?

MR. JARRETT: Yes, that's correct.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: So that's 28 years. That was going to be my one question. I don't understand if they were allowed to carry any forward from USC. But I will say this. It is a systemic problem within our colleges and universities in this state and one that all of them, especially our flagship universities are going to have to deal with, because that is one of the best ways to address rising student costs, is through the endowment. Right here, y'all bringing it up, I hope y'all have a plan to move on it, because I think it matters and it matters intensely.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander?

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. President. And, good afternoon. Thank you for being here. You mention here that ways to improve Coastal Carolina is a better arts center. Is there a -- is there a curriculum in the arts?

MR. JARRETT: Oh, yes.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay. So, what -- is the arts failing? Is it not a prominent part, as far as the arts center goes, from that standpoint? Has there not been a -- I mean, you get the one percent money. I'm just wondering --

MR. JARRETT: Well, it has been kind of an neglected thing since a great contribution was made by a family, the Robin Edwards School of the Arts. But the facility is beautiful; it's just small and it needs to be enlarged. So, our new president has moved forward with this and downtown Myrtle Beach they are renovating an old theater and Coastal will run and manage that facility. So, that's going to be one new outlet for more performances and more exposure of the arts department, which is fantastic in the productions that they do put on. But, again, it's limited seating and just needs a boost.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. I was just -- was not aware. The other question I would have, in your current -- well, says you visit the campus often. Can you define for me what "often" is?

MR. JARRETT: I think I could probably say I'm out there 50 times a year, at least.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay.

MR. JARRETT: For one reason, my wife works there. She's the director of the Coastal Housing Foundation, which is not really a part of Coastal University -- Coastal Carolina University. Secondly, I used to be in a -- the team physician for them for 36-some years.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay.

MR. JARRETT: And spent a lot of time with the teams and traveling, and so on.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So, you're very familiar with it.

MR. JARRETT: I'm really familiar with it.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So, if I could, one follow up. You mentioned Housing Foundation is separate and distinct from the university?

MR. JARRETT: It's not under the university auspices. I don't know the exact legal definition of that separation.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you.

MR. JARRETT: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Finlay?

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Senator Alexander, we put forward a proviso, I believe, that reaches to that, that at the beginning of the discussion of these sort of off-balance sheet items that these universities have, it's not just them. USC, Clemson, everybody has them. And it's going to become one of the most important issues, and I'm very glad to hear you've hit on it, or what is off-balance sheet financing that is depending on, for example, students being allocated to those dorms. The second issue is this off-balance sheet housing, you have a lease-back where you purchase 25 years out, what is the dorm worth if it's been beat up by kids for 25 years, in my guess, is negative equity. So, I think this is going to be a really interesting question for us to go forward.

MR. JARRETT: And the fact that you ask that, it -- I was concerned, when I made the application, that there may be an appearance of conflict of interest in that, and I would certainly like that to be resolved.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairmen. Thank you, Mr. Jarrett, for your willingness to serve. I want to go back to -- and I'm sorry, I had to leave the room for a minute. Duty calls, as the old saying. Tell me a

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

little bit about the Fine Arts Center and, because, you were in a community where the arts and entertainment is really big, especially in the season, since the season is moved, that -- and maybe an off-campus location where they're trying to build a fine art center on campus, that way you can partner with the city and some other foundations to try to build a fantastic fine arts center knowing what your competition is going to be, but I don't think you want to bring all that traffic onto the campus.

MR. JARRETT: Well, you know, that's a great question. And Coastal is -- to expound on it a little more, which I had discussed maybe in your absence --

SENATOR SCOTT: I'm sorry.

MR. JARRETT: -- is that there's a theater in the downtown section of Myrtle Beach --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. JARRETT: -- called the Reveille Theater, and that's an old beautiful building. It's going to be completely renovated and Coastal's fine arts program will be managing that, basically.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. JARRETT: And that's all part of the downtown revitalization plan for Myrtle Beach, for those of you who may or may not be aware of this. And the old buildings, which are beautiful to look at, but have been fairly run down, is a common problem in a lot of towns. But the university and the city council have really been working well together on this project.

SENATOR SCOTT: That may be the answer to that fine arts center.

MR. JARRETT: It may be.

SENATOR SCOTT: I mean, because it -- you would have a lot more exposure. And if the it -- if the partnership is set up right, you share a lot more of the debt, along with possible gains and losses, as you bring different acts and entertainment, because not all of you will make money, some of it you will actually lose money until you get that group who will come from all over everywhere to see it.

MR. JARRETT: It's tough and competitive environment.

SENATOR SCOTT: No question. Wish you well with that.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else? Desire of the committee?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: Favorable.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Seconded. Any other discussion? Hearing none, we'll take it to a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you, sir. Still on Coastal Carolina University, at

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

large, Seat 15. Coastal Carolina University, at large, seat 15, Patrick Sparks. Good afternoon, sir.

MR. SPARKS: Hello.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, give us your full name, sir.

MR. SPARKS: Patrick Stephen Sparks.

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in. PATRICK STEPHEN SPARKS, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. SPARKS: Well, I'd appreciate the opportunity to get to take my mask off. This, if granted, will be my second term on the board. And I'm a graduate, former Alumni of the Year and donor. And Coastal has done a lot for me. It certainly has done a lot for our area, as a local business owner. So, I appreciate the opportunity to sit here and give you some reasons why I hope I should be elected again.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions or comments? Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you for your willingness to continue to serve, and I know, in the Toyota business right now, that's probably what you need to be most of the time. But we appreciate your service.

MR. SPARKS: Thank you, yes.

SENATOR SCOTT: Tell me what you've learned over the year of being on the board and some things that you may want to recommend for changes or, given some of the questions we've asked out here, diversity, making sure we sealed ourselves in case if more students decide to stay home, listening to some of the special programs that you do have to attract students, not knowing what percentage of those out-of-state students will actually come to your business department and others that we've talked at, please share your experience of what you saw and what you think we need to do; and if you get another term, how -- some things you could do to improve what you saw.

MR. SPARKS: Certainly. And to address your first thought about being on the board as first term, it's a lot like trying to jump on a train that's doing 80. When you're an incoming board member and you've been elected, however, the board has been there, it's continuing to move along, it takes a certain amount of time to get up to speed on everything --

SENATOR SCOTT: Sure.

MR. SPARKS: -- why we do things the way we do them, why have they been done this way in the past, what obstacles, roadblocks are there from trying to change things. Higher education is changing. We know the stats are out there. Not as many people may choose to attend to go to a four-year college or even a two-year college, for that matter. So, I think

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

it's extremely important that universities, institutions recognize that and change with those times. But, fortunately, we do have a good partnership with Horry Georgetown Tech. We have a bridge program where we take in-state, in-area young men and young women who may not have the qualifications or, quite honestly, the ability to come in to Coastal as a freshman and succeed. They would go to Horry Georgetown Tech. They would attend that campus for classes. They would come over in the afternoons and attend certain classes on campus with Coastal. And the term "bridge" is aptly named. We have several opportunities like that. I know our admissions department has done a fantastic job in determining at-risk students, the students that, by the time that first semester rolls around, we've identified students that may not be adapting to college life quite like we would like them to in terms of their academics. So, they're stepping in quickly. There's almost like a neutral program with their academic advisor where that advisor goes and looks and says, "Hey, listen, we may have an issue here. How do we help?" Those things are helping with our retention -- our freshman retention rate this past year. It was a 73 percent. That's the highest since I've been there. It has been as low as the high 50s. When I started, it was 63 percent. So, we're making grounds in going out and recruiting students and keeping those students, which is really important.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right. Tell me about diversity, what have you seen --

MR. SPARKS: Absolutely. And I think one of the previous applicants mentioned Dr. Stokes-Brown with their Office of Diversity and Inclusion. I like the title. I like "diversity" and I like "inclusion." I think sometimes "diversity" just by itself, if somebody didn't know any better, might think that that would divide us. The "inclusion" aspect in that title really sums it up for me in terms of we have a department and we have a young lady solely dedicated, with her staff, to -- helping to onboard students in our university. We recruit through them. We were able to use that in terms of being able to go out and explain why us and why not somebody else, for students. Perhaps, Senator Scott, your next follow up might be do I think that our ratios are where they need to be, and I do not.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. SPARKS: I think that we need to do a better job all the way around with all ethnicities that may be willing to represent -- I think that's Hispanic. I think our Asian population, from what our demographic is, is woefully small, and I believe that we can do a better job. And quite honestly, Diversity and Inclusion Office is going to help us there. And I

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

think our new president -- I was on the search committee for Dr. Benson. I think he is a -- will be a -- will turn out to be a great leader for us, a lot of energy and a lot of really good ideas. And open-door policy is a cliché, but when this gentleman says it, he means it. He's out in the classrooms teaching. He has asked all of his executive level counsel to teach a class each semester as well, so he wants his folks out there, the staff, being in front of people and making a difference in terms of "if I need to talk to you, it's there, it's available."

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. President. And thank you for being here and for your service on the board. It says here ways to improve this is to communicate a clear vision. Is there a lack of that now? Have y'all put a focus on a vision for the university.

MR. SPARKS: Senator, yes, thank you for the question. Every university has a strategic plan. And that talks about how big our footprint can be or how many students we want to have, and what our maximum growth is. When we transitioned from Dr. DeCenzo to Dr. Benson, I personally felt as though that left us with an opportunity to be able to go back and rededicate ourselves and our message to our incoming students and to our existing students about what it is we're trying to do and where we're trying to go. And understandably so, we have an Office of Philanthropy and Giving and Advancement. It's part of our endowment, and we've spoken about our endowment, unfortunately, way too much in this meeting, but this is -- of where it is and what it is. But that department has been taken down. We, literally, under the previous president, did not have a staff in place waiting for the new president to come in and name his own staff. We've partnered with a third-party company to come in and try and help give us some ideas on how this department needs to be structured, what it needs to look like, who needs it. My assumption, it's somebody coming from outside the university to help us get back up in running in terms of that. So, in my mind, a clear vision meant how we move forward in certain areas that we know are strategic issues.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. Just a couple of other questions.

MR. SPARKS: Certainly.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: You know, as a local business owner -- and I will agree with the senator, I'm trusting that the business is extremely going well these days, the car business --

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. SPARKS: If I had more, we'd be doing better; but I'm satisfied, thank you.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: I'm certain it is. Do you have -- I'm just curious, but you were in that area. Is Coastal Carolina -- is it embraced by the local business community? Is there a good network there of support for Coastal in -- I mean, with the whole beach -- greater Myrtle Beach area?

MR. SPARKS: Senator, I appreciate the question, and that's an area that I actively try and work towards. I, as a graduate, grew up there. I know what Coastal is. We have a lot of transient folks. Jason Repak, one of the other board members, mentioned how many people are coming in. And I personally think that it's our job, as board members and citizens of the community to educate these folks that are moving in about Coastal Carolina University. It's part of our issue with our transient -- transients are one of our -- part of these folks that are moving in to our area, they bring --

SENATOR ALEXANDER: New residents?

MR. SPARKS: -- allegiances, yeah, allegiances from different universities, different areas. You know, our -- we've actually started a -- kind of an opportunity to say, listen, I know you're from West Virginia and you're a West Virginia fan; but you list here now, adopt us." You know, root for West Virginia on TV and come to the Coastal games, as it were.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. And just following up to your point there of folks moving in. Now, you were born in Charlotte. Did you grow up and move to the beach at an early age or were you in Charlotte and then went to Coastal as a student?

MR. SPARKS: I moved in seventh grade. So, I attended North Myrtle Beach Middle School and North Myrtle Beach High School, and then Coastal.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Only reason I was asking, I was just curious if you came there and went to school and then stayed.

MR. SPARKS: Right --

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So, you had already been --

MR. SPARKS: -- I understand.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you. Thank you, Mr. President.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Finlay?

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Yes, sir. This is a bit of sort of an oddball question but one I think deserves consideration. Do you think Senator Verdin could pull off that same haircut that you have going?

MR. SPARKS: I think the Senator can probably do a lot of things.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR VERDIN: Hey, I appreciate the --

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Thank you for responding.

SENATOR VERDIN: I appreciate the spirit that was offered. He can twist that any way he wants to. I need a haircut. I understand. I'm trying to figure -- I got a wedding on June the 5th and no one in my family is happy about things on my face or my head. I can't believe you'd go there.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: I just didn't want you to come too much of a burden.

SENATOR VERDIN: Why don't you tell Mr. Sparks what a good-looking man he is.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Well, as an orthopedic surgeon, could you help Mr. Findlay with his foot?

SENATOR VERDIN: Yeah, it's stuck somewhere right now.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Speaker, can you clean this up.

SENATOR LUCAS: No, I'm ready to vote.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: I move for favorable.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Move for favorable and seconded. Do you have any further discussion? Hearing none, we'll take it to a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you, sir. Appreciate it.

MR. SPARKS: Thank you.

SENATOR SCOTT: Appreciate your service.

SENATOR PEELER: That completes Coastal Carolina University. And if you all will promise to be back in five minutes, we'll take a five-minute stretch break and be right back here. We still have the Old Exchange Building Commissioner and Wil Lou Gray. (off the record)

SENATOR PEELER: Call us back to order. This is the College and University Trustee Screening Commission. Next we have Old Exchange Building Commission at large. Greg Ohanesian.

MR. OHANESIAN: Ohanesian.

SENATOR PEELER: Ohanesian.

MR. OHANESIAN: Ohanesian.

SENATOR PEELER: Is that close enough?

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, give us the real way to pronounce it.

MR. OHANESIAN: Ohanesian.

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in.

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir. GREG OHANESIAN, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement, sir.

MR. OHANESIAN: I've been on the Old Exchange Commission overseeing Building Commission for about nine years now, and during that time we have not had to come before the General Assembly for funding. We have been able to provide our own funding through admission prices. I know that was one of the questions that was on one of the senator's minds the last time I came. The most important -- well, one of the most important facts about the Old Exchange Building that I consider is that there are three public buildings still standing in the United States where the Declaration of Independence was read in July of 1776. Everyone knows the Independence Hall in Philadelphia. And New Englanders know Faneuil Hall in Boston. But very few people seem to know that the Old Exchange Building in Charleston, South Carolina, is the third building, and that's a really important fact. Not just for the South, but for Charleston. It's one of the unknown facts. And, of course, the others are related to George Washington, when he was president, made a southern tour, came to Charleston for about five days. There were a couple of balls in the great ballroom of the old exchange building in his honor as well as other balls throughout the city. I could go on but I'm sure that members of the House and members of the Senate have questions and I'd be glad to entertain those.

SENATOR PEELER: Time's running. Questions or comments? Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: So why? So why folks don't know about this -- this well kept -- kept secret?

MR. OHANESIAN: Well, that's --

SENATOR SCOTT: What's going on? Are we not doing a well enough job in order to getting that information out to attract people who now comes to the aquarium and all these others things we have in Charleston. But the Old Exchanges is not being looked at.

MR. OHANESIAN: Well --

SENATOR SCOTT: What's going -- how can we improve it?

MR. OHANESIAN: Well, actually, it is, sir. We have between -- in not a Covid year -- between 45 to 48 thousand people coming through on an annual basis. Last year we were about half of that. We're online and we get over a million hits a year, so someone is paying attention.

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. OHANESIAN: We solicit interest from teachers, public school teachers throughout the state to bring their classes to the Old Exchange Building. Several do. I did myself bringing a couple of classes from Marlboro County --

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR SCOTT: Okay.

MR. OHANESIAN: -- down to Charleston. But there's a fair amount of traffic in the building. We have a -- what's known as the great hall upstairs and that hall is used for very special events. Sometimes weddings, sometimes corporate meetings, such like that. There's great use of the building but it's in terms of facts about the building, you're right, sir, not that well known. But that's also a function of the History of the American Revolution in South Carolina. Not very many people know about the battles that took place here in this state.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. President. And just to follow-up on that -- you're last comments with the commission being formed for the 250th anniversary found that and certainly that -- that's already in place, that would be a great partnership if y'all would get involved with that. Telling that story and as we try to educate young and old and some of us to be reminded of the significance of South Carolina and our Revolution success.

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir. Plans are already in place and more being

SENATOR ALEXANDER: To work with that commission?

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay, good. Because there's no reason to

MR. OHANESIAN: We're on track.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay.

MR. OHANESIAN: We recognize that the building is extremely important in the history of South Carolina.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: And the country too.

MR. OHANESIAN: And across the country, absolutely. We get more visitors from outside of South Carolina than we do from South Carolina.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We need to work on that as well as part of our history. Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Verdin.

SENATOR VERDIN: Oh, just, not -- the chorus. I'll just join the chorus with a comment. You know, 13 colonies can directly refer their students to the Declaration of Independence, to the Constitution. We're one of those 13. There's 37 that can't. They might be able to direct their students to the Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions, add a couple of more states.

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir.

SENATOR VERDIN: But anyway and you have close proximity to all of those young people that are in the low country for the visits but what

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

-- what a great thing it would be if just one percent of our college graduates of our state institutions could reference the 1776 reading or two percent of our college graduates could reference the 1776 and the 1788 readings. What -- just two percent of the population. I'd like to start somewhere and I don't know if you were here earlier but we had college trustees and we've been having this conversation about getting back to the basics. Now, it was great putting men on the moon and have genome centers and everything else we've done in the last 50 years and one of the things we've done is neglected some really foundational fundamental points of education as it relates to how we interact with each other.

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir. I --

SENATOR VERDIN: And I'd sure like to help you. I'm going -- I'm going to do my part by bringing my new grandchildren -- I've got grandchildren now that can walk and if I can keep -- if I can keep them out of the -- out of the gutter and up on the sidewalk, I'm going to try to get them to the foot of Broad this summer.

MR. OHANESIAN: They will be fascinated with the dungeon. The dungeon has been prepared for children. There are images of patriots that are hung up, fake, obviously mannequins to show what it was like during the American Revolution, when the British had control of Charleston and arrested patriots and put them down there. The other comment that I'd like to make coming off of that -- and I was astounded to read it last year in the Wall Street Journal. A significant number of colleges and universities in this country, including Ivy League schools, don't require of history majors a course on American Revolution. That's the place to start. The universities are not fulfilling, in my opinion, their role in educating our young adults. That's just an opinion, sir.

SENATOR VERDIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Is there admission to the Old Exchange?

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, there is. It's the only way we survive.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: How much?

MR. OHANESIAN: It's 15 for adults, 5 for children except when they come in class groups and then the price is reduced to 2 per child.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Okay. I used to teach social studies, South Carolina history, and I would bring them down to the state museum and they didn't charge anything for school groups. I would think that would be one way you could probably encourage more school

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

groups, if you didn't have to charge for them. I can understand for adults and so forth. That's just something I would consider.

MR. OHANESIAN: Sure. We --

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Go ahead.

MR. OHANESIAN: We were reminded many years ago before I got on the commission that coming to the state legislature for funding was not an event that any of the members of the commission looked forward to so we have tried to find a way where we can be self-sustained --

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Right.

MR. OHANESIAN: -- without having to come to the --

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: I understand that. Without having to come to us for money.

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: I've got personal interest in this. My -- one of my ancestors was heavily involved during the Revolution, John Rutledge. I know you're familiar with him.

MR. OHANESIAN: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Yeah, so it's -- I've always had a fascinations for that part of Charleston. Thank you.

MR. OHANESIAN: Well, if I can come off of that, sir, John Rutledge is kind of an unsung hero. It was he who really directed the four delegates to the Continental Congress to pass the Declaration of Independence. He was behind the scenes and his brother, Edward, who was on the committee was waiting for word from his brother, John, in Charleston which way to vote to approve or not approve the Declaration of Independence. I commend you, sir. I wish I had such patriot -- although I have patriots myself, past president of the South Carolina society, Sons of the American Revolution.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Yeah. I'm a member of that. Unfortunately, I got left out of his will somewhere along the way.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: What's your relationship with Parks, Recreation, and Tourism?

MR. OHANESIAN: We have a -- we're supposed to have the Director of Parks and Recreation to serve as an ex officio member of our Commission but I -- I don't know want to call names or anything but I can't remember ever seeing a representative of Parks and Recreation attending our Commission meeting.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We need to improve on that.

SENATOR PEELER: Any other questions or comments?

SENATOR VERDIN: Yes, sir. I might not get an opportunity. Your surname, would that be the son on Ohan?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. OHANESIAN: Ohanes.

SENATOR VERDIN: Okay, the son of Ohanes.

MR. OHANESIAN: And it's actually son of St. John, that's n-e-s saint. Yes, sir. I commend you, sir.

SENATOR VERDIN: Well, just something that flew in my mind from way back.

MR. OHANESIAN: Not very many people would get that -- not very many people would get that far sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: Move favorable.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Second. Any other discussion? Hearing none, take it to a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Appreciate all you do.

MR. OHANESIAN: Thank you. And thank you, gentlemen.

SENATOR PEELER: Now, we move to Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School. Four at large candidates today. Stewart Cooner?

MR. COONER: Yes, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Just for the record, give us your full name. Give us your full name.

MR. COONER: Douglas Stewart Cooner. DOUGLAS STEWART COONER, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Like to make a brief statement?

MR. COONER: I'd like to make a statement, sir. I apologize I'm usually not brief but I will endeavor to be so. Mr. Chairman --

SENATOR PEELER: I deal with senators every day.

MR. COONER: Thank you, sir. Mr. Chairman, distinguished members of this Commission from both the South Carolina Senate and the South Carolina House of Representatives and to your colleagues and the South Carolina General Assembly, I say thank you. Thank you for the opportunity to sit here before you today, to discuss my candidacy for the Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School Board of Trustees. Thank you for the 16 years that I've already served on this excellent board and thank you for trusting me to serve as a representative, a voice, for the students who walk through those halls, who excel in those classroom, who build confidence, display leadership, and who prove that they can and will be successful. All they need is an opportunity. With the 6.5 million dollars in the general funds you provide, almost 85 percent of the school's budget, you, the members of the South Carolina General Assembly, have built the foundation for their opportunity to succeed. What does success look like? To date, 80 GEDs have been earned. 80 GEDs towards the

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

goal of 100. Since the 2011 school year, the school has met this goal of 201 earning their GED in the 2017 school year alone. Even with the unexpected events of Covid 19, the 2020 school year produced 124 GEDs. This year, Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School student won the David S. Stout award for the highest GED score in the state. Over the years, three Opportunity School students have earned this honor with one runner up. So success looks like the 26 percent of students who transition to college and into employment, 34 percent who transition directly to employment, 24 percent who return to school, the 6 percent who enter the military, and the 10 percent who transition to other situations. Before Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School, these students age 16 to 19, were at risk of academic progression but now they fill 4 dormitories of 35 students each across three 14 week sessions. They meet teachers in ratios of 14 to 1 or less. Teachers who maintain 100 percent of their required certification. They meet employees who's average tenure reach almost a decade, some who have taught, retired, and returned to tutor over a 50 year career. From the upstate to the midlands, to the Pee Dee, and the low country, these students may study for a GED, earn a works key card, pass the ASVAB, and learn a vocational skill, and they prove themselves successful. And they learn the meaning of Dr. Wil Lou Gray's motto why stop learning because for one young man, had he decided to ignore the meaning of that motto, he would have missed out on accomplishing a five grade level advancement in his education and would have missed out on proving to himself that he is a success. In 1921, Dr. Gray posed that question why stop learning? I invite you to the campus on Boston Avenue at any time but especially this year. As you enter the campus's single drive, you will find fastened to the lamp posts banners proclaiming 100 years, since 1921, Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School. This is our 100 year celebration. I hope Dr. Gray would be proud of what she planted first in Yamasee, South Carolina, and what others have grown. I believe she would. I am proud of this school. I hope that is apparent. I'm thankful for the dedication and determination of the faculty, staff, cadre, and administration of Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School. Please believe that the successes that I have share with you today would not be possible without the extraordinary efforts and compassion and caring of each one, past and present. The students are successful because they are taught to believe in themselves, taught by those who believe in them even more. We, as a Board of Trustees of Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School, have been granted an awesome opportunity to be a small part of what's accomplished. Through our diverse backgrounds, experiences, skills,

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

and representation, we 12 members are privileged to work alongside a remarkable group of people carrying a lifelong banner. Thank you. Here I've arrived at the end of my comments but the work remains and I am dedicated to it. As it states on the Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School website "together we will." I believe that every child deserves a future filled with opportunities and possibilities. I believe that every child deserves a future filled with hope. For 100 years, Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School has provided hope. I want to continue to be a part of that work that promises such hope and as described here today, delivers on that promise. Together we will. Thank you for allowing this time to share with you the distinct honor that has been to serve on the Wil Lou Board of Trustees and to share with you the reasons I want to continue to serve. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you. Questions or comments. Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: What is the key to that success? To remove the students from their present environment? To move the extra interference with the other kids being -- interacting with this child to get their child more focused? What is the -- what is the key to that success? I know there is a youth challenge program also.

MR. COONER: There is, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: We'll hear -- hear about that, I know.

MR. COONER: I believe the key is, as you said, sir, is to take them out of the environment that is not necessarily conducive to their learning achievement. I believe it's bringing them into the Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School where they're assessed, where they're given an individualized guidance plan, where they're required to take the work keys program, where they're required to take the ASVAB. They live in a quasi military environment and they're given structure. And I believe those are the keys to help them to succeed. That not only do they succeed while they're at the school but they also succeed when they transition back into their communities.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Okay. Anyone else? Mr. Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I just want to say Wil Lou Gray is part of my subcommittee on budgeting every year. We are just astounded at the success that you have at your school.

MR. COONER: Thank you, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: When we have them over for a luncheon, just how they act, how polite they are. It's yes, sir and no, sir, yes, ma'am, no ma'am. You've just done a wonderful job with some --

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

some young people who probably would fall through the cracks otherwise. So I have no problem trying to fund them, what they need every year because they've been a true success story. So I just want to thank you for what you do.

MR. COONER: Thank you, sir.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Verdin.

SENATOR VERDIN: Female admissions are a challenge. Are they a challenge once they get there or just finding a -- is the pool of candidates the challenging aspect of it?

MR. COONER: It's the pool, sir.

SENATOR VERDIN: Okay.

MR. COONER: It is. We -- we actually have five dormitories. Two of them are dedicated to female. Three of them are dedicated to male. The admissions rate for females was low so what we actually decided to do was partner with vocational rehab and bring them on campus and reduce the number of dormitories available for females to accommodate the number of applications that we were receiving. But it is a population that we'd like to address. The school has -- has tried to understand what it is that -- that attracts the males to the program but not necessarily females and we continue to study that. We -- we promote the school through billboards, through radio announcements, through participating on news programs, different things of that sort. It would be helpful if we could get additional support from the school districts as they recognize that children are at risk and provide us with that information. Obviously, with the parents consent. And we believe that we could address that. But yes, sir, it is -- the female population is one that we'd like to see an increase in enrollment.

SENATOR PEELER: Anybody else?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Motion is favorable report. Seconded. Any other discussion. If none, take it a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you, sir.

MR. COONER: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Next Michael Pryor. Good afternoon, sir.

MR. PRYOR: Good afternoon.

SENATOR PEELER: For the record, if you would give us your full name.

MR. PRYOR: Michael Tyrone Pryor.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in. MICHAEL TYRONE PRYOR, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. PRYOR: Yes, sir. May I sit?

SENATOR PEELER: Please do. Make yourself comfortable.

MR. PRYOR: I am a counselor. I am a native of South Carolina. I hail from the small town within Orangeburg County called Branchville, South Carolina. I received both my degrees from South Carolina State University and I'm currently working on my third degree in educational administration at that university as well. I am currently a certified school counselor and I'm passionate about advocating for our students. I believe my educational and professional experience along with my integrity will allow me to become a good fit for board member at Wil Lou Gray. I'm committed to bringing strategic and innovative ideas and helping progress our students within South Carolina.

SENATOR PEELER: Thank you, sir. Questions? Comments? Senator Scott?

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you for your willingness to serve.

MR. PRYOR: Thank you.

SENATOR SCOTT: I'm excited to come out of a small county and especially even a smaller community.

MR. PRYOR: Yes, sir.

SENATOR SCOTT: And some of the things that we've been talking about, at least this year, that's been top priority is those children who are struggling in those communities, especially those trying to go to a four year school and we have enough difficulty just getting them out of high school because they don't have all the resources and material. Tell me what you think based upon your training, experience, and a South Carolina State College graduate too, so congratulations on that as well. The training, experience, especially your -- what you've seen in your own environment in those communities that you'll be looking for - - looking for when you see these students who are struggling trying to figure all this out, first just trying to make an adjustment being in a small community and then trying to -- to try to put themselves together so they begin to achieve. Give me your thought pattern on -- on what your thought pattern might be on that.

MR. PRYOR: Well, I think the number one thing is resources. Within the small town environment, we don't have a lot of resources. We don't have a lot of clubs and organizations, so the communication as well as the conversation within the schools is not necessarily there when it

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

comes to success and post-secondary opportunities. So I think that's one of the main things that we can work on. Even within my experience as a school counselor, a lot of students they -- when they struggle academically or within the school setting, they don't know about the opportunities at Wil Lou Gray. I did have a few students that I did recommend and have gone to Wil Lou Gray and have become successful. But a lot of students, over all, they just stop coming without seeking advice of what to do next.

SENATOR SCOTT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Senator Alexander.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Thank you, Mr. President. Briefly. Good afternoon. Thank you for being here and your willingness to serve.

MR. PRYOR: Thank you.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: You're current employer, you're -- what is your current employer?

MR. PRYOR: I'm currently employed as a head counselor at Dekalb Alternative School in Stone Mountain, Georgia.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Stone Mountain, Georgia. So you live -- is your residence in Georgia or South Carolina?

MR. PRYOR: South Carolina.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay. Would -- how often does the Wil Lou Gray board meet?

MR. PRYOR: It meets three times a year.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So would there be any issue with you having the ability to attend those meetings?

MR. PRYOR: No, sir.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay. And finally, it says here under the biggest weakness, you have reputation. Is there -- is there --

MR. PRYOR: As far as my biggest weakness?

SENATOR ALEXANDER: No, no, not yours but Wil Lou Gray's. I mean, is that -- is that a perception or is that something you're aware of?

MR. PRYOR: Yes, I think that's just a perception of the students. They -- they see it as -- or the parents as well, they see it as an alternative school setting as a bad thing. As if all students that attend Wil Lou Gray have behavior issues and that's not necessarily the case. Some students go to Wil Lou Gray because they want a way of finishing their high school -- their secondary education, not necessarily for behavior issues.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: So that's something they could work on?

MR. PRYOR: Yes.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: And have you -- have you been to the campus?

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MR. PRYOR: I have not been to the campus but that's something that I look forward to doing if I'm afforded the opportunity to tour the campus and speak with board members about, you know, ways we can make it better.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Okay. Thank you. It's good to see you.

SENATOR PEELER: Mr. Whitmire.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You have a South Carolina driver's license?

MR. PRYOR: Yes, sir.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: You got any points left on it?

MR. PRYOR: I do have a few left.

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Well, you better be careful. You're about to go out.

SENATOR VERDIN: Mr. Chairman. Are you finished there, Mr. Whitmire?

REPRESENTATIVE WHITMIRE: Yeah.

SENATOR VERDIN: Because I've got the same love for Mr. Pryor as you do. Because I experienced a lot of the things you experienced and I believe like sometimes having a stiff neck and not being able to look over my right hand shoulder when I'm on I-20 trying to get back to South Carolina.

MR. PRYOR: I know.

SENATOR VERDIN: You get -- if you can't look back over on the entrance ramp to the interstate, you don't know who's over there lurking. Honest to goodness, when I was young like you, I had fast cars and now I've got slow trucks. But I'm with the representative there, we all need to be careful.

MR. PRYOR: That's true.

SENATOR PEELER: Anyone else?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: Second.

SENATOR PEELER: Second. Any discussion? Hearing none, take it to the vote. All in favor raise your right hand. I think it's unanimous. Thank you for your willingness to serve, sir.

MR. PRYOR: Thank you.

SENATOR PEELER: Next Gregory Vaughn.

SENATOR VERDIN: Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR PEELER: Yes, sir?

SENATOR VERDIN: You'll have to forgive me. Not only did I eat my whole cup full of chocolate, I ate Mr. Finlay's as well. So --

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Not that Mr. Finlay is going to miss it.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR VERDIN: He said I was going to have a sugar rush at some point.

SENATOR PEELER: Gregory Vaughn, for the record, if you would, please give us your full name.

MR. VAUGHN: Gregory Martin Vaughn.

SENATOR PEELER: Let me swear you in. GREGORY MARTIN VAUGHN, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

SENATOR PEELER: Would you like to make a brief statement?

MR. VAUGHN: I am in the incumbent coming in. Haven't been very long. I have actually attended one face-to-face board meeting before we had to start going to teleconferencing. I filled a partial seat, the end of a seat so I came before this committee just over a year ago. So, of course, I have been involved in the teleconference board meetings that we've had since. I still have a lot to learn about the school but I'm totally, absolutely convinced that the school and what it stands for and how it operates is very, very needed in this state, not this state but any state but it is, of course, in the state so I think it serves a great purpose and I think it always will because youth will always have problems that don't always work themselves out and they need a little help so, I think Wil Lou Gray's a good opportunity for those kids to have a chance to fulfill their -- their potential.

SENATOR PEELER: Questions or comments?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable.

SENATOR PEELER: Motion is favorable. Second? Any other discussion? Hearing none, we'll take a vote. All in favor, raise your right hand. Unanimous. Thank you, sir. We appreciate your willingness to continue serving. That's our agenda. If there's nothing else, we'll stand adjourned.

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY TRUSTEE
SCREENING COMMISSION
SCREENING HEARINGS
THURSDAY, APRIL 22, 2021**

The within hearings, reported by Kathryn B Bostrom, Court Reporter and Notary Public in and for the State of South Carolina; said hearings were taken at the South Carolina State House, Columbia, South Carolina, on Thursday, the 22nd day of April, 2021, commencing at the hour of 12:26 p.m.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

APPEARANCES: Committee Members: Representative William R. Whitmire, Chairman Senator Thomas C. Alexander Senator John L. Scott Senator Daniel B. Verdin Representative Kirkman Finlay Representative James H. Lucas Committee Staff Martha Casto Julie Price Court Reporter: Kathryn Bostrom, Garber Reporting

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Today we're going to hear two candidates for a board at large seat from Wil Lou Gray Opportunity School. First I would ask for Cheryl Fralick from Lexington to come up, please. And as soon as you sit down, if you'll just raise your right hand, I'll swear you in. All right. CHERYL FRALICK, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: And if you'll tell me your name and what are your plans to run for Wil Lou Gray seat.

MS. FRALICK: Well, my name is Cheryl Howard Fralick. I've grown up in South Carolina. I was born and raised here. I went through the public school setting here at USC, early childhood masters, administration degree. I'm recently retired after 36 years of service in education. I served as principal the last 15 years in Lexington School District One. And so basically at church one day, a friend just said, hey, what are you doing in retirement. I said I'm trying to figure out who I am, trying to figure out what's the next step. And he started talking about you should think about something like a board of education. I don't think that I'm done helping children, and I don't think I'm done helping families and teachers. And this was an opportunity that just kind of came at the last minute, the 11th hour putting this application in, but since then I've really done some deep dives and some research, and I just think the children I've served as principal -- especially my emotionally disabled students, Wil Lou Gray gives me an opportunity to continue helping students and teachers and faculty and administration, and my work with children is just not done.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Okay. Questions? Speaker Lucas.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Ms. Fralick, you have an outstanding resume. Thank you for your desire to serve. One of the things you list is a desire to see an increase in the number of students passing the GED. How would you do that?

MS. FRALICK: Well, you know, like I said, when I first answered these questions, it was kind of off the cuff to be quite honest with you, because I didn't know this is a direction that I was really interested in doing, but in the course of going, you know, what, I can make a difference. You know, I can work with people there. So I kind of changed my answers a little bit on that. Basically increasing GED -- what I have found with

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

results is one size does not fit all, especially when you get into children that have some issues and some mental, behavior, social, whatever, but what I have found is by increasing their self worth, right, the character of who they are, the desire to want to do better, to work hard, when you combine the character piece, when you combine the mastery, the knowledge and skills, and when you expect high quality work, children will perform. And so -- but they have to first understand who they are as a person, and just to me increasing scores is showing individuals who they are, what they're capable of doing. And that you are capable of going beyond what you think you have potential to do. It's really pushing them to know they can do it, that they absolutely can do it.

REPRESENTATIVE LUCAS: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: I agree with the Speaker. I'm really impressed with your resume. The other part that I'm impressed with is not only just the regular student who comes to school, but also the special needs students. And there are so many kids, that we are now dealing with these young people, who have special needs and some may be even balance because of parents who use drugs --

MS. FRALICK: Uh-huh.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- and kids who are having an addiction, just all kinds of issues. I think your experience would play a major role. Tell me about the last couple of years. Thirty-six years is a long time --

MS. FRALICK: It's a long time --

SENATOR SCOTT: -- but you're still a young teacher --

MS. FRALICK: Thank you, thank you.

SENATOR SCOTT: -- and a principal.

MS. FRALICK: Yes.

SENATOR SCOTT: Tell me about the last two years and what you began to see, because things when you began 36 years ago, it's a lot different now than it was then. Tell me about those last couple of years.

MS. FRALICK: Oh, and to be quite honest, I've really noticed a change in the -- when I was there --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MS. FRALICK: -- I retired June of 2019, so I'm not that far away from it yet.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MS. FRALICK: But within the last two or three years from when we opened the school in 2011 --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MS. FRALICK: -- I'm already seeing a difference in -- and I'm going to tell you, the social aspect even for children that are in stable homes, with social media and all the things that are thrown at them, we have to approach them differently, but the bottom line's still --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MS. FRALICK: -- the bottom line for everybody is what their self worth is on the inside. Being able to identify themselves as, I am Cheryl Fralick. Here's what I'm capable of doing, and this is what I continue to work on. And so they -- and through this pandemic, I can foresee there are going to be a lot more mental --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MS. FRALICK: -- breakdowns and things like that, but the last two years I was there, my emotionally disabled classroom consisted of probably about eight boys and about two girls, but their behaviors were so violent and their mental health was so severe and for a lot of reasons, some of the families that are intact and some that are not. And we're just faced with a lot of variables being thrown at these children. And they just don't have that stability within themselves to work through these things, because they're so concerned about what's going on around them, who's doing what to me and who's not doing what to me, that they lose sight of, I need to focus on myself. And so really the last two years my faculty and I, we really focused on the why.

SENATOR SCOTT: Uh-huh.

MS. FRALICK: You know, why are we here, what is it that's the issue and how are going to fix this.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MS. FRALICK: And when we met around a table like this, we always put the student name in the center of the table and said, this is why we're here, what's going on in this child's life and how are we going to work to help him meet the target, whatever that target is, and it may be just growth one percent --

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MS. FRALICK: -- it may be growth two percent, but are we moving that child forward instead of flat lining or dropping off a cliff.

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, I wish you well. I do know we sometimes think because these kids have programs that they don't have capability to really learn.

MS. FRALICK: That's right.

SENATOR SCOTT: Some of these kids -- they're bright kids, but because of outside influence, they just refuse to participate for one reason or another. I wish you well.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MS. FRALICK: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Senator Verdin.

SENATOR VERDIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. That all translates to Wil Lou Gray, that approach.

MS. FRALICK: Yes.

SENATOR VERDIN: Inner person.

MS. FRALICK: Yes.

SENATOR VERDIN: The focal point right here. So the biggest weakness identified is just the turnover. I take it the students at Wil Lou Gray, if you were directing those comments directly is, would you say they have a decrease in the number of students leaving school due to disciplinary issues? What's the term, what's the normal term, 12 weeks, ten weeks, 12 weeks, or if it prescribed in different modules or --

MS. FRALICK: Well, can I -- do I have the privilege to say -- I want to tell you a different answer to that. Like I said, when I was trying to figure out whether I was going to apply to this, it was kind of a quick response. Let me look at everything, because I do dive deep in the data, right, but I didn't do a whole lot. So I've looked at Wil Lou Gray's data. I would change my answer to that --

SENATOR VERDIN: Okay.

MS. FRALICK: -- a little bit, because things are changing, going back to you. The last two years of my stay at Meadow Glen Elementary things were changing very rapidly, and we would lose students for this or that, and so it's really hard to pinpoint, but what I am seeing, though, is all schools, not just Wil Lou Gray, but just the mental health, the safety, right, true professional development for staff, students and families, a deep dive into the rise, the recruitment of solid faculty to help these students work through so that they don't want to leave.

SENATOR VERDIN: Okay. So that response to the questionnaire was not specific to -- because I'm not familiar with the retention rate. I've always thought it was real high.

MS. FRALICK: His retention rate is very high, probably food services is probably a tough one, and probably those that have to watch them at night. I would think that that is a really --

SENATOR VERDIN: Oh, but that's employees, though.

MS. FRALICK: -- hard to recruit for that.

SENATOR VERDIN: Okay. Well, Wil Lou Gray's biggest weakness, "the need to increase the number of students passing the GED," good and "needs to increase the number of students leaving that school due to disciplinary issues."

MS. FRALICK: Right. Well --

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

SENATOR VERDIN: But that's what I view as the whole concept of the school.

MS. FRALICK: Right.

SENATOR VERDIN: Okay. I'm going to subject myself to this rigorous discipline because I haven't had it before and I knowingly, willingly am subjecting myself to it. And then they get there and don't pan out.

MS. FRALICK: Right. Well, since I've -- if you notice on question 5 it says, have you ever visited the campus, and I said, no. Well, as soon as this application went in, I called Director Smith and said, can I come by your school.

SENATOR VERDIN: Yeah.

MS. FRALICK: I want to feel what your heart is. I want to see the school. I want to see what's going on. We talked about that, and so I would have changed that answer as well, because people leave for different reasons. And with the way the world is now, people are changing their minds on anything. A student can all of a sudden just feel overwhelmed by that military style, 14 week structure, because they haven't had structure in their life. And so it's not like a prison where you hold them down. They do have the freedom to leave. So a lot of different things that Director Smith and I talked about -- it's a variety of things. They might call mom and dad and say, please, come pick me up. I can't handle this. And sometimes parents don't let children fail in order to become somebody strong, and they're bailing them out a lot. So that was a lot of the reason that he told me, and sometimes there are discipline issues. In my emotionally disabled class at Meadow Glen Elementary, we had two such severe children that the public school setting is not equipped to handle that, and it's the same thing. If there is a student with discipline issues and they've gone through the process of everything that -- their protocols and everything like that. Sometimes there is a need for something a little more even stringent than a 14 week program. Does that make sense?

SENATOR VERDIN: Yes.

SENATOR SCOTT: Yeah, it does. Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Senator.

SENATOR SCOTT: Two programs that I always highly respect, Wil Lou Gray is one and Youth Challenge is the other one. And I spent many years working with the Youth Challenge program, and it is really military driven. And even with that, what we discovered, there's a lot of these kids that don't make it simply because they never had discipline in their life.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

MS. FRALICK: Right.

SENATOR SCOTT: And that's a hard thing for a child who has been able to go and come as they please, and then take them out of a setting where they can't get their own way, they act out. And some come around and some don't. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: I want to welcome Representative Finlay. Thank you for coming.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Three elevators.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: That's real dedication. First, I'm a former educator, so I really want to thank you for your service to our state in education.

MS. FRALICK: It's been a privilege.

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: I can tell you when I first started, it's not like it is now.

MS. FRALICK: It's not.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: It is totally different. My wife also has been an elementary principal at three different schools, and she keeps me informed, and she says the same thing. When she started in the early '90s, it's not the way it is now. So --

MS. FRALICK: It is. And I would add to that. When you have to be careful with every word that comes out of your mouth now --

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Yeah.

MS. FRALICK: -- you want to be truthful, and you want to be -- we call it being lovingly blunt when we had to talk to parents about their students and their discipline, but it's so important that families work together in order to say no to a child every now and again and let them fail so that they pick themselves up, and they see how strong they actually are when they can go through some hardship. And the students that they serve at Wil Lou Gray -- I mean, that's what this school was built for, right, to help those that don't feel that they're a part of something, to build them up so that they walk out of there and say, I am somebody.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Well, I'll say this about Wil Lou Gray. I also serve on Public Education Ways and Means. They come before us every year. It is an outstanding school. They -- I can't say enough about the success there.

MS. FRALICK: Right. And just the tour and just how beautiful it is, first of all --

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Right.

MS. FRALICK: -- it feels good to be there, and the things that they're doing, and I just -- it opened my eyes, and I'm going, yeah, these were

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

my kids in elementary school who you've served and the kids that I've served for a very long time.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Any other questions?

SENATOR SCOTT: Favorable report.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: All right. There is a motion for favorable report. All those in favor, please signify by raising your right hand. Opposed, like sign. Thank you very much.

MS. FRALICK: You're welcome. Thank you for the opportunity.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Good luck to you. Thank you.

MS. FRALICK: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: All right. Next up is Michael Moss from Duncan. Have a seat, and I'll swear you in. MICHAEL MOSS, having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: If you'll state your name and tell us why you're running for Wil Lou Gray.

MR. MOSS: My name is Mike Moss, and I was asked a few years ago - - there was a partial term that needed to be filled, and I was contacted and asked about Wil Lou Gray, and I learned more about Wil Lou Gray. I have educators in my family. My wife is retired school teacher. My son is now band director, and I have two daughter-in-laws who both teach, one at Clemson University, the other one at an elementary school. I was a former admissions director at Spartanburg Methodist College so education has been a part of out life. And it's been such a privilege to serve. And I would like to continue to serve at Wil Lou Gray.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Questions? Senator Scott.

SENATOR SCOTT: Yes, sir. Thank you so much for your willingness to serve. Understanding what the needs are going to be and the role as a mission, how do you think that can transfer over to the young people at Wil Lou Gray, getting them prepared? Some of these kids will probably end up at the technical schools, in the military or even into a four-year institution. So with the broad knowledge coming from a southern Methodist college doing intake, what do you think that you would share with those young people to make a transition?

MR. MOSS: Well, I think that there is a transition here, and I think getting -- I've met with the admissions person at Wil Lou Gray. I went over, and they kind of shared with me what they've done before in admissions. And I think the students - - you've got to prepare them for life. And I think they have to see that need, and if that referral comes in, it's what that student needs at that time, Wil Lou Gray is either going to take it or they're not. And so I think if you -- you know, admissions --

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

same way at the college. We didn't know if the student -- we would look at their background. We looked at their grades. We looked at what they did while they were at those high schools and would they make it at college. And you have to make that determination. And I think that's the same with Wil Lou Gray.

SENATOR SCOTT: So sharing that as knowledge, as a member of the board, what would you like to see the board do on the policy side because you instruct administration what needs to be accomplished so these kids are able to achieve and be able to get into college, although it's expensive, college is now?

MS. MOSS: Right. I think as far as the staff and all, I think they do an excellent job getting the students prepared for college. Everything that I've seen from the board -- from our board perspective in getting ideas and listening to the principal of the school and what is going on and Director Smith, I feel like that they are achieving those goals. There's always going to be some fallout, but there's fallout everywhere.

SENATOR SCOTT: Right.

MR. MOSS: There's fallout in public schools. There's fallout no matter what you do, but I think they're on target. Everything looks good to me, and enrollment shows us that, that we continue to enroll. The only thing that's crippled enrollment this year, of course, is the virus, and there is just nothing we can do about that.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Any other questions? Senator.

SENATOR VERDIN: I'm just curious. Did you ever have any interaction with Bull Cagle, Mavis Bull Cagle?

MR. MOSS: Yes, from Lyman. Yes.

SENATOR VERDIN: I've been thinking. He kind of ran his own little Wil Lou Gray format over there, didn't he?

MR. MOSS: He did. He'd run more like a recreation program, getting them involved. His nephew was a good friend of mine, and they -- Byron, I don't know if you knew him, but And Ms. Cagle also was the secretary to my doctor, so --

SENATOR VERDIN: Yeah. Over in Greer?

MR. MOSS: Over in Greer.

SENATOR VERDIN: Yeah.

MR. MOSS: But, Bull, yeah, he kind of run a program and keeping kids off the street.

SENATOR VERDIN: Tough love.

MR. MOSS: Yes.

SENATOR VERDIN: Discipline, but a lot of love.

MR. MOSS: Absolutely.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

REPRESENTATIVE FINLAY: Well, I know how Byron Everett experienced him, because Byron Everett and I both called him Uncle Bull. Byron and I are first cousins.

MR. MOSS: I think we've met before. I don't know --

SENATOR VERDIN: Well, hey, I appreciate the focus up from both the nominees. Mr. Chairman. It's a personal relationship, really, the focal point of impact there at Wil Lou Gray. And I was again, just reading that book you gave me, ten, 12 or 14 years ago about the mission. You know, Wil Lou Gray came to Gray Court or out in the country there at Youngs Community and poured life and soul into a bunch of underprivileged folks that were bound and determined to lift themselves up with a little help, and you know, we have to be mindful of continuing to enable people to identify and then embrace the ideals that are so instrumental in keeping the society together. So Mr. Chairman, I move favorable.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: All right. First, let me welcome Senator Alexander from his busy schedule down on the floor.

SENATOR ALEXANDER: We broke so we could come up here.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Well, we appreciate that. Any other questions for Mr. Moss, or move to favorable report? Hearing none, there's a motion for favorable report. All those in favor, please raise your right hand. Those opposed, like sign. So reported out. And before you two leave --

SENATOR SCOTT: Proxy open.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Oh, yeah. We got the -- Representative King -- Senator Scott had his proxy, and he also votes favorable.

SENATOR SCOTT: And favorable report on the previous as well.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: Martha, do you want to tell them their rules and orders and stuff?

MS. CASTO: Julie will get with y'all two. The election is scheduled now for May 5th. We are to get the transcripts printed in the journal next Thursday --

MS. PRICE: Tuesday.

MS. CASTO: -- Tuesday, I'm sorry, Tuesday, release them for commitments on Thursday, and then the election will be the following Wednesday at noon. Now Wil Lou Gray has four seats and five candidates. Remember y'all screened three last week, and then the other school is Coastal Carolina, and there are two contested seats on there.

CHAIRMAN WHITMIRE: And please do not talk to any representatives or senators before the day you can ask for commitments. We've had that come up in the past, and that really

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

creates a problem for some. Okay. Anything else before the Committee? Thank you Senator for coming up, and thank you to the speaker, and we now stand adjourned. (There being no further questions, the hearings concluded at 12:49 pm)

(There being no further questions, the hearings concluded at 2:41 pm)

Letter received by the Commission from a Winthrop Alumnae on April 9, 2021

To Whom It May Concern,

I am writing as a deeply concerned alumna of Winthrop University urging that Mr. Glenn McCall NOT be appointed once again to the Winthrop Board of Trustees. As the current Chairman of Winthrop's Board of Trustees, a great deal of unethical conduct and corruption has transpired and ultimately, our leaders should be held accountable for their conduct, not rewarded to additional terms. Not only will I provide evidence, but I urge you to do confidential interviews with every member of the current Board of Trustees to verify. Some will be brave enough to say as such, but only if in confidence.

First and foremost, I expect all Board members to abide by the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act. Legislator Seth Rose can also attest, but this state law is violated at every Winthrop BOT meeting. The law permits the Board to enter into Executive Session for a limited number of reasons, however, over 90% of every board meeting is held Executive Session, during topics that do not qualify. In general, they open the meeting, say the invocation, approve the agenda/past minutes and then enter immediately into executive session for hours on end. They come out, read the resolutions and vote with Board members passing every resolution unanimously, then they adjourn. Topics such as athletic programming simply do not belong in Executive Session. That's the bottom line. I have voiced my concerns on this and other major governance issues directly to WU's legal counsel Caroline Overcash, Interim-President Hynd and Chairman McCall as far back as September, 2020, yet no efforts have been made to abide by state law. It all begins with Chairman Glenn McCall, who presides over the meeting. They continue the same pattern of doing things, without formal board training and assuming the way it has been done in the past is okay for the future, whether it is lawful or not. No ignorance to the law may be pled as the plethora of illegal executive sessions has been brought up many times, directly to Chairman McCall. Winthrop's head of the Political Science and Mass Communications departments, Ms. Jennifer Disney and Mr.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

Guy Reel, can also verify their eyewitness accounts of the current Board entering into Executive Session illegally.

At the November, 2020 Board of Trustee meeting, I witnesses nearly 14 guests of Winthrop University speaking during the public comment time in advance of the Board of Trustee meeting. Those guests, which included three current students, were not welcomed into the room by Chairman McCall, Vice-Chair Bigham, Secretary Faust (responsible for lining up speakers) nor Interim-President Hynd. A microphone was not initially afforded to speakers (despite being requested in advance and the board having microphones at their tables). It was only one member of Winthrop public relations and a retired WU staff member who actually spoke to these individuals to thank them for their time in coming. The retired staff member even went as far as apologizing for their treatment by the Board after everyone was removed from the room because of executive session happening. It was highly embarrassing for me that my own alma mater cared nothing for these speakers who simply wanted their voice to be heard.

As you will soon find out in the media in the coming weeks, not only is Winthrop University in gross violation of compliance of federal law, Title IX, but there will be a much deeper story coming out that I don't even have all of the facts of. University officials are finally going to be held accountable to the public on many fronts, and hopefully, it will lead to positive change. As you know, any University not in compliance with Title IX may lose ALL of its federal funding as a result. Here is a link (https://share.icloud.com/photos/0MzyFTjWeN_N8Ago8KbQ6yB2g#Cramerton) to a very serious audio conversation that I had with Josh Whitlock of Jackson Lewis (their outside Title IX legal counsel) just a few weeks ago. **It is vital that you listen to the entire conversation.** I did notify Josh in advance I would be recording our call, however, I did not need to do that as both NC and SC are one consent law states. Please pay attention to the entire conversation as after the Title IX conversation, we go into a timeline that unveils a great deal of unethical behavior and corruption amongst many members of Winthrop leadership, including select members of the board (including Mr. Glenn McCall). I have evidence and witnesses to back up every single statement that I made to Mr. Whitlock. I am happy to provide ALL of that to you. I have also included a copy of my follow-up email to Mr. Whitlock (including those attachments). ***see follow-up email.

I speak to you having significant board experience myself as I serve on the Executive Committee of a global non-profit board based out of NYC. In my view, this Board operates as a dictatorship. In private

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

conversations I've had with board members, a great deal of vital information is kept from the full board and they only find out key information after the fact. The poor governance procedures I outlined only breed this type of activity and needs to be corrected immediately. It is not surprising to me that Chairman McCall and Vice Chair Bigham continue to purposefully withhold information from the full board in order to push their personal agendas. This is NOT how a productive board operates in the least.

Leadership starts at the top and appointing Mr. McCall (and Kathy Bigham for that matter) to an additional term would only make the situation worse. Winthrop needs new leaders that take seriously their fiduciary responsibility to the institution, not to themselves and the power they wield. We don't need more politicians doing what they want (because there is no accountability otherwise) having created a culture that is based in fear. Did you know that University officials have informed me that in no way can members of the Board be held accountable to even the most basic level of ethical conduct outside of the finite stipulations outlined by the SC State Ethics Commission (basically nepotism and where financial gain is at hand)? Even Winthrop's own General Conduct Policy is ignored. I have attached two letters to University leadership (2/12) and the full board (2/21) that outline the gross mishandling of a complaint to Human Resources.

I understand that Mr. McCall is the only candidate to have submitted his candidacy. Why? It is not surprising to me that in no way does Winthrop post details publicly about the process of doing so, for those who may be interested in running Board seats. Perhaps it is leadership's way of ensuring that the same select few individuals can go about their business as they have in the past, with no regard to abiding by good governance, or state law for that matter. I urge the state to mandate universities provide this "process for being appointed to the Board" available on their web site at the minimum. That's just good governance.

Lastly, Mr. McCall is NOT an alumnus of Winthrop University. Read that again. **Mr. Glenn McCall is NOT an alumnus of Winthrop University.** I understand politics are often involved in matters such as these and a Republican governor will want to appoint someone who serves on the RNC. While state officials may also choose to "look the other way" and appoint him anyway citing he was the only applicant, it is only a matter of time before the volcano erupts. To give you a runner's analogy, "it is better to go through the temporary pain of surgery in order to run swiftly once again, than it is to continue hobbling on a bum knee." A bum knee only gets worse over time if not corrected.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

I urge that you yourselves serve in the best interest of my alma mater and NOT allow Mr. McCall to serve again. Winthrop's future depends on the decisions you make. Thank you for your time and deep consideration.

Sincerely,

Julie Busha

Winthrop Class of 2000

Academic All-American, XC/Track, Order of Omega, 3 Departmental Honors

Motion Adopted

On motion of Senator MASSEY, the Senate agreed to stand adjourned.

MOTION ADOPTED

On motion of Senator RANKIN, with unanimous consent, the Senate stood adjourned out of respect to the memory of Mr. John Patrick "Pat" Henry Sr. of Conway, S.C. Pat graduated from Spartanburg Methodist and Wofford College before serving four years in the U.S. Air Force. He graduated from the University of South Carolina Law School and retired after 45 years from Thompson and Henry Law Firm. Pat served as Horry County Attorney and president of the Horry County Bar Association. He was a devoted member of Trinity United Methodist Church where he served in many capacities. Pat enjoyed fishing, hunting and farming. Pat was a loving husband and devoted father who will be dearly missed.

and

MOTION ADOPTED

On motion of Senator McELVEEN, with unanimous consent, the Senate stood adjourned out of respect to the memory of Mr. Stephen Campbell Mims of Sumter, S.C. Stephen was a master electrician and former co-owner of Ridgeway Electric. He was the drummer for The Footnotes band and enjoyed spending time with family, friends, the outdoors and the Gamecocks. Stephen was a member of Trinity United Methodist Church. Stephen was a loving husband, devoted father and doting grandfather who will be dearly missed.

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021

ADJOURNMENT

At 5:26 P.M., on motion of Senator MASSEY, the Senate adjourned to meet tomorrow at 12:00 P.M.

* * *

TUESDAY, APRIL 27, 2021
SENATE JOURNAL INDEX

Amendment No. 5.....	20	H. 3017	10
Amendment No. 6.....	13	H. 3124	4
Amendment No. 8.....	14	H. 3244	6
Amendment No. 10.....	15	H. 3369	4
Amendment No. 11.....	18	H. 3541	7
Amendment No. 12.....	16	H. 3689	11
Amendment No. 16.....	17	H. 3805	9
Amendment No. 19.....	20	H. 3956	4
Amendment No. 33.....	19	H. 3998	5
Amendment No. 38.....	21	H. 4019	5
S. 229.....	8	H. 4035	7
S. 700.....	6	H. 4064	9
S. 767.....	2	H. 4098	7
S. 768.....	2	H. 4100	11
S. 769.....	3	H. 4100	12, 13
S. 770.....	3	H. 4187	5
S. 771.....	3	H. 4266	5